

An investigation of group A Streptococcus.

By

Nelly Janira Avire

BSC. EVH

Thesis Submitted to Flinders University for the degree of

Master of Environmental Health

College of Science and Engineering October 2020

CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	III
LIST OF TABLES	IV
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	v
ABSTRACT	VI
DECLARATION	VIII
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	IX
1.0 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Group A Streptococcus	1
1.2 GAS worldwide	2
1.2.1 A review of group A streptococcus: Risk factors, prevention and control	3
1.3 GAS in Australia	28
1.4 Prevention and control of GAS transmission	29
1.5 Research questions, aims and objectives	
1.5.1 Research questions	
1.5.2 Aims	
1.5.3 Objectives	
2.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.1 Sample collection	
2.1.1 Biosafety information	
2.1.2 Sample collection	
2.2 Microbiological culture of samples	35
2.2.1 Negative controls	35
2.2.2 Positive controls	35
2.2.3 Culture methodology	35
2.2.4 Limit of detection	
2.2.5 Maximising cell growth and detection	
3.0 RESULTS	
3.1 Growth curve determination	
3.2 Positive controls	40
3.3 Negative controls	41
3.4 Hand sanitiser tests	41
4.0 DISCUSSION	45
4.1 Prevention and control of GAS transmission using hand sanitisers	45
4.1.1 Alcohol-based versus alcohol-free hand sanitisers	47
4.1.2 Effectiveness of tested hand sanitiser samples and comparison sample	
4.1.3 Limitations of using hand sanitisers for hand hygiene	50
4.1.4 Limitations of the study	51
5.0 CONCLUSION	52

5.1	Future work	52
REFER	ENCES	54
APPEN	DICES	77
A1 Bi	osafety training certificate	77
A2 Bi	osafety committee approval for the project No. 2020-19	78

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. 1: Overview of search methods and articles' inclusion and exclusion criteria	6
Figure 2. 1: Sample 1 hand sanitiser (Uniquely Natural Hand Sanitising Gel)	33
Figure 2. 2: Sample 2 hand sanitiser (Travel Hand sanitizer)	33
Figure 2. 3: Sample 3 hand sanitiser (Dettol®)	34
Figure 2. 4: Sample 4 hand sanitiser (ZC Hand sanitizer gel)	34
Figure 2. 5: Dish washing liquid (Ultra Palmolive dish washing liquid)	35

Figure 3. 1: Optical density at 600nm for the growth of <i>S. pyogenes</i> cells over time	39
Figure 3. 2: Broth cultures before incubation (a) and after incubation (b). Colour change is seen i volumetric flasks labelled S1, S2 and S3. There is no observable change in the control broth	n 39
Figure 3. 3: Serial dilutions of S. pyogenes cells from 10 ⁻¹ to 10 ⁻¹⁰	40
Figure 3. 4: S. pyogenes colonies grown on THB/BA drawn from mixture diluted at 10 ⁻⁵	41
Figure 3. 5: Distribution of colonies in positive controls (10 ⁻⁴) and sample 2 test (10 ⁻³)	43

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. 1: Synthesis of the key findings relating to GAS risk factors, modes of transmission and the prevention and control strategies found in the articles that met the inclusion and exclusion criteria (described in Figure 1.1) and were included in this review	3
Table 3. 1: Optical density of S. pyogenes cells against time during incubation of broth culture 3	8
Table 3. 2: Number of colonies present on the plates with THB/BA after incubation for 24 hours 4	0
Table 3. 3: The number of colonies on culture plates after serial dilutions of the mixture of sample 2 hand sanitiser and S. pyogenes cells	2 2
Table 3. 4: Expected log reduction, log reduction and percentage reduction achieved by the tested samples (BS EN 1276:2019; Log and Percent Reductions in Microbiology and Antimicrobial	1
1 esung. 2013 <i>j</i>	-

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- AU Absorbance units
- BA bacteriological agar
- CDC Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention
- CFU coliform forming units
- GAS Group A streptococcus
- g/L grams per litre
- HIV Human immunodeficiency virus
- iGAS invasive group A streptococcus
- IBC Institutional Biosafety Committee
- μL microlitre
- mL millilitre
- mm millimetres
- nm nanometres
- OD₆₀₀ optical density at 600 nm
- PC2 Physical Containment Level 2
- PRISMA Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses
- PYR Pyrrolidonyl Arylamidase
- qPCR quantitative polymerase chain reaction assay
- rpm revolutions per minute
- THB Todd Hewitt broth
- TNTC too numerous to count
- WHO World Health Organization

ABSTRACT

Streptococcus pyogenes or group A streptococcus (GAS) is a gram-positive bacterium transmitted primarily through respiratory droplets, or skin contact with broken skin that has secretions from infected sores on the skin. Foodborne GAS transmission also exists. Additionally, the environment is also a potential reservoir and facilitates transmission through contaminated equipment, surfaces, dust and fomites. GAS is responsible for causing a range of infections that include rheumatic fever, necrotising fasciitis, post streptococcal glomerulonephritis, pharyngitis, strep throat and scarlet fever. These infections are classified as either mild or invasive. Anyone in a population can be infected by GAS. However, the immunocompromised, children 5-15 years old, the elderly and pregnant women are at most risk of these infections.

GAS is endemic among Indigenous communities in Australia with the prevalence rate ranging from 23.9 to 82.5 cases per population of 100,000 people. This has been attributed to factors including low socioeconomic status, characterised by overcrowding and poor housing conditions. This research was undertaken, in part, to inform health care workers in a remote community that had expressed concern about the lack of information available about the risk factors of GAS. Since GAS infections are not nationally notifiable in Australia, their control and prevention has faced challenges. Making GAS notifiable at the national level would help to inform public health and research initiatives aiming to reduce the impact of this condition.

An extensive literature review was undertaken to examine all published studies from the past ten years that identified group A streptococcus infections, their risk factors and the prevention and control strategies in place for the control of these bacteria. The findings showed that GAS infections exist with higher prevalence among the Indigenous populations and that the incidence of the infections has its peak during childhood. Schools, hospitals and residential care homes were also found to be high risk areas for the transmission of the infections. This literature review also highlighted the current prevention and control measures in place for GAS transmission. Hand and personal hygiene were reported to be key in prevention of these infections.

Hand hygiene can be achieved through hand washing with soap and water or use of hand sanitisers. The effectiveness of hand sanitisers in the destruction of pathogenic microorganisms varies depending on different factors. Samples of hand sanitisers available in the local supermarkets were purchased and tested in August 2020. A total of five samples were purchased. Four samples were hand sanitisers: the fifth sample was a dish washing liquid, used as a comparison. All samples were tested for their effectiveness in the destruction of GAS bacteria using a bacteriological culture method. Results of the study showed that three of the four hand sanitiser samples tested, and the

vi

dishwashing liquid, demonstrated a log reduction of log 7 and were therefore effective in killing *S. pyogenes*. One hand sanitiser sample recorded a log reduction of log 1, which indicates its inability to effectively kill *S. pyogenes*.

Future research should involve a bigger sample size to determine the effectiveness of more brands of available hand sanitisers. Further testing of hand sanitisers that are ineffective in killing *S. pyogenes* should also be done. Testing of the effectiveness of alcohol-free hand sanitisers on the destruction of GAS should also be undertaken. Additionally, this kind of testing should be done on high touch surfaces to determine whether disinfection methods effectively destroy GAS. Swabs can be collected from the hands of the people at most risk to determine presence and numbers of GAS microorganisms on their hands before and after the use of different brands of hand sanitisers, to determine their effectiveness. To determine the effectiveness of hand hygiene in control of GAS infections, work involving comparison of morbidity due to GAS before and after implementation of hand hygiene using hand sanitisers, or a combination of both hand hygiene techniques, in populations which are more susceptible to GAS infections, should also be done.

These findings, coupled with the literature review, show the importance of understanding GAS disease risk factors and the feasible community prevention and control measures. The findings will ensure reduced disease morbidity and mortality and therefore improved quality of life in populations of at-risk individuals.

DECLARATION

I certify that this thesis does not incorporate without acknowledgment any material previously submitted for a degree or diploma in any university; and that to the best of my knowledge and belief it does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text.

Signed: Nelly Janira Avire.

Date: 19th October 2020.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to appreciate and acknowledge my supervisors, Dr. Kirstin Ross and Dr. Harriet Whiley for their instruction, support and encouragement during the time of undertaking this project. Their willingness to answer the endless questions I asked during the study time, and their availability to give direction at any time cannot be taken for granted. Their contribution was vital for the success of this work. I am also thankful to all my lecturers for the great work they did in taking me through my course work and sharpening my skills in the Environmental health field and project research as well. I also acknowledge Flinders University for putting in place programs that are very accommodative for learning.

I am also very grateful to all the lab staff and study peers for the great support they offered me during my study period. Special thanks to Dr. Thilini and Mae who took me through basic microbiology skills.

I am very grateful to my late parents for investing in my early education that laid the foundation for my higher learning. My dear mother-in-law Esther and father-in-law Jotham have also been a source of encouragement and inspiration in my education journey.

I acknowledge my employer the Government of Kenya, Nandi County, Ministry of Health for giving me time to study. Special thanks to Mr. Isaac Ruttoh for being a great mentor to me in the public health profession.

Words cannot express the gratitude I have towards Australia Awards, the scholarship program that made sure my studies and stay in Australia went smoothly without any difficulties.

I greatly appreciate and dedicate this work to my beloved husband Silas and our dear daughter Hadassah who have always been very understanding even when I had to leave them behind to pursue my studies in a country far away from home. Their love and moral support are greatly appreciated.

Above all I greatly appreciate God of all wisdom who enabled me to carry out this research successfully.

Statement of co- authorship

The following people contributed to the development of the research article manuscript sent for publication which was work undertaken as part of this thesis. The co-authors are listed in the order that the co-authored manuscript appears in the thesis.

Dr Harriet Whiley

Dr Kirstin Ross

All above listed contributions equated to no more than 25% of the work necessitated for the preparation of the research manuscript.

This thesis includes a manuscript submitted for publication, therefore some repetition between chapters occurs. Some variations may be seen in the referencing style used and this is due to the referencing style used by the journal.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This chapter presents a review of the relevant literature of the key concepts of this study. This includes literature defining GAS, its transmission, the populations at risk of getting GAS infections, the risk factors of transmission and the available prevention and control strategies for these infections. It also explores the burden of GAS infections worldwide. It further narrows down the literature review on GAS infections' burden, with a focus on Australia, and the prevention and control of the infections using hand hygiene, specifically, by the use of hand sanitisers. Lastly, this chapter outlines the research questions, the aims and the objectives of the study.

1.1 Group A Streptococcus

Streptococcus pyogenes or group A *Streptococcus* (GAS) is a gram-positive, non-motile, non-spore forming coccus that occurs in chains or in pairs of cells that are round to ovoid, measuring 0.5 to 1.0 µm in diameter (Patterson 1996; Reglinski & Sriskandan 2015, p. 667; Spellerberg & Brandt 2016, p. 3). GAS colonises epithelial surfaces, primarily of the throat and skin, but also colonises other surfaces such as the vagina and rectum, from where it can cause a wide variety of mild or severe infections (Walker et al. 2014, p. 266; Cunningham 2000, p. 471).

GAS is primarily spread by respiratory secretions, contact with skin sores caused by GAS or through contact with contaminated material or equipment (Sosa 2016, p. 126; Steer et al. 2016, p. 2955; Hancock-Allen et al. 2014, pp. 1136-37). However, foodborne infections also occur (Chen et al. 2017, p. 7; Liu et al. 2014, p. 545; Kemble 2013, p. 650-652). Moreover, foodborne transmission and transmission through environmental reservoirs like contaminated surfaces at community level or in enclosed social settings have not been extensively explored. Infection can also be transmitted by asymptomatic carriers (Deutscher et al. 2011b, pp. 992-93; Lamden 2011, p. 396). GAS has an incubation period of 1-3 days (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2020). The signs and symptoms for GAS infections include high fever, severe muscle aches, localised muscle tenderness and sometimes redness at the site of a wound (WHO 2005; Zhang et al. 2017, p. 1; Stevens 1992, pp. 3-7).

Diagnosis of GAS is mostly done by culturing the bacteria of clinical specimens (Spellerberg & Brandt 2016, p. 2). However, *S. pyogenes* diagnosis can also be done using rapid tests like the Lancefield antigen determination, PYR (Pyrrolidonyl Arylamidase) test, bacitracin test, antibiotic resistance testing and direct antigen detection. Moreover, serological tests and typing of *S. pyogenes* and rapid molecular techniques like qPCR can also be used in the diagnosis of *S. pyogenes* (Spellerberg & Brandt 2016, pp. 5-11; Fox, Marcon & Bonsu 2006, p. 2593; Reijtman et al. 2020, pp.1-5). Culturing of *S. pyogenes* in the laboratory is undertaken using specified media. Growth of streptococci preferably uses an agar media supplemented with blood, however, other media like Oxoid® blood-

agar base, Bacto heart infusion broth and Todd-Hewitt broth can also be used to grow *S. pyogenes* (Spellerberg & Brandt 2016, p. 2; Williams 1958, p. 153; Roobthaisong et al. 2017, p. 3/22).

Morphologically the appearance of cultured *S. pyogenes* colonies after 24 hours of incubation at 35-37°C is small dome-shaped with a smooth or moist surface and clear margins. They display a whitegreyish colour and have a diameter of > 0.5 mm. When cultured in agar supplemented with blood, *S. pyogenes* colonies appear surrounded by a zone of β -haemolysis that is often two to four times as large as the colony diameter (Spellerberg & Brandt 2016, p. 3), however, *S. pyogenes* colonies grown on Todd Hewitt agar do not have the β -haemolysis zone. THB (CMO 189) contains 10.0 g/L of infusion from 450 g fat free minced meat, 20.0 g/L of tryptone, 2.0 g/L each of glucose, sodium bicarbonate and sodium chloride, 0.4 g/L disodium phosphate and a pH 7.8 ± 0.2 at 25°C. These ingredients and conditions favour the growth of β -haemolytic bacteria which includes *S. pyogenes* (Oxoid Australia 2020a). Moreover, BA (LP0011) which is added to the THB to make culture plates has a low mineral content, which enables free diffusion of antimicrobial substances: it also has a very high working gel strength (Oxoid Australia 2020b). For successful growth of *S. pyogenes* colonies, incubation temperature of 36°C or 37°C is recommended.

When treated appropriately with antibiotics, GAS is communicable for 24–48 hours. Communicability can last for 10–21 days in untreated cases that are uncomplicated. Additionally, communicability can be prolonged in untreated complicated cases (Vincent, Celestin & Hussain 2004, p. 1466). Invasive group A streptococcal infections occur when a person's immunity is unable to fight the bacteria (Olp, Chamales & Schmiedecke 2020, p. e3; Zhang et al. 2017 p. 3; Olajuyigbe et al. 2018, p. 435). Additionally, sores or other breaks in the skin may allow the bacteria to get into the tissue (Stevens & Bryant 2016, p. 6; Adebanjo et al. 2018, p. 1785).

GAS causes severe invasive and sometimes irreversible infections like rheumatic fever or rheumatic heart disease, necrotising fasciitis, post streptococcal glomerulonephritis and mild superficial infections like pharyngitis, strep throat and scarlet fever (Efstratiou & Lamagni 2017, pp. 9-11; WHO 2005, p. 1; Rivera-Hernandez et al. 2020, pp. 1-2). There are certain strains of GAS that are more likely to cause severe disease than others (Bisno, Brito & Collins 2003, p. 192). The reason some strains cause more severe illness is not totally clear, however, it's believed that this is related to their ability to produce substances (toxins) that cause shock and organ damage or enzymes that cause tissue destruction (Stevens 1992, pp. 2-3; Department of Health New York 2020).

1.2 GAS worldwide

Group A *Streptococcus* bacteria are of interest because of their ability to cause a wide range of infections that are associated with high levels of morbidity and mortality worldwide. These infections have remained endemic in some communities and have also been reported to re-emerge in communities where they had earlier been eradicated.

The systematic review (below), has been submitted for consideration for publication. The review identified population groups at most risk of contracting GAS infections, the common areas where the infections are likely to spread faster, the risk factors associated with GAS transmission and available prevention and control strategies for GAS infections worldwide. This research identified hand hygiene as one of the key public and environmental health prevention measures for GAS transmission. This informed the study design regarding community GAS transmission prevention among the Indigenous populations in Australia, where GAS infections are most prevalent (Francis et al. 2019, p. 288; May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016, p. 201). The results from this study are presented below.

1.2.1 A review of group A streptococcus: Risk factors, prevention and control.

1.2.1.1 Abstract:

Background: Group A streptococcus (GAS), or *Streptococcus pyogenes,* is a pathogen of public health significance, infecting 18.1 million people worldwide and resulting in 500,000 deaths each year. It is commonly transmitted via respiratory droplets, touching skin sores caused by GAS or through contact with contaminated material or equipment. Foodborne transmission is also possible, although there is need for further research to quantify this route of infection.

Methods: This systematic literature review examined published articles on the risk factors and the prevention and control strategies for mitigating GAS infections based on the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) statement reporting guidelines for systematic literature reviews. Scopus and Web of Science databases were used to find required articles.

Results: It was demonstrated that GAS is highly prevalent in developing countries and among Indigenous populations in developed countries. Children aged 5-15 years and the elderly were at greatest risk of GAS infection, with transmission rates being higher in schools, kindergartens, hospitals and residential care homes. This was attributed to overcrowding and the higher level of social contact in these settings.

Conclusion: This review demonstrated that GAS infections are responsible for high disease burdens worldwide. Prevention and control measures should target improvement of living conditions and personal and hand hygiene. Adherence to infection prevention and control practices, which includes proper use of personal protective equipment, constant disinfection of shared equipment and proper waste disposal should be emphasised in high risk settings. Resource distribution by governments especially in developed countries should also be considered.

Keywords: group a step; group A streptococcus; Strep A; GAS; Streptococcus pyogenes; S. pyogenes; Group A streptococci AND control; prevention; public health; infection control; intervention*; management; risk factor*; risk*

1.2.1.2 Background

Streptococcus pyogenes, or group A streptococcus, (GAS), is a gram-positive bacterial pathogen commonly found in the throat and skin of humans (Cummins et al. 2012; Banigo et al. 2018; You et al. 2018). GAS has been found to persist for weeks or months in the carrier state in the anus, vagina, pharynx and skin of human hosts without causing disease (Rasi & Pourheydari 2009; Mahida et al. 2018). However, in postpartum and menopausal women, GAS is not considered a vaginal flora and its presence should be investigated immediately (Iwata & Iwase 2017; Olp, Chamales & Schmiedecke 2020). GAS can opportunistically exploit weakened immune systems to cause diseases that range from localised and mild to systemic and severe (World Health Organization 2005; Hupp, Kallstrom & Myers 2018; Oliver et al. 2019a; Olp, Chamales & Schmiedecke 2020; Thielemans et al. 2020). Mild GAS infections include pharyngitis, strep throat and scarlet fever (WHO 2005; Efstratiou & Lamagni 2017; Rivera-Hernandez et al. 2020; Worthing et al. 2020) whereas invasive GAS infections (iGAS) include rheumatic fever, necrotising fasciitis and post streptococcal glomerulonephritis (Aziz & Kotb 2008; Xie et al. 2010; Olp, Chamales & Schmiedecke 2020; Worthing et al. 2020). Approximately 18.1 million people currently suffer from a serious GAS disease with 1.78 million new cases and 500,000 deaths occurring each year (WHO 2005; Walker et al. 2014; Turner et al. 2017; Tyrrell et al. 2018; Barth et al. 2019).

During the 20th century there was a decrease in the incidence of GAS diseases in developed countries largely as a result of improved living conditions (WHO 2005; Ralph & Carapetis 2012; Kumar et al. 2014; Wu et al. 2016). However, genetic changes in circulating GAS strains and/or changes in host susceptibility to infection can lead to dramatic increases in the rates of specific diseases (Gendron et al. 2014; Boie et al. 2015; Ikebe et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017; You et al. 2018). No situations exemplify this more than the global upsurge of invasive GAS disease that originated in the 1980s, and the regional increases in scarlet fever in North-East Asia and the United Kingdom (Nelson et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2017). In each case, increased disease rates have been associated with the emergence of new GAS strains with increased disease-causing capability. Epidemiological studies also show re-emergence of these diseases in developed countries. Studies from the United States indicated that iGAS infection rates from 2005 to 2012 remained steady with 3.8 cases per 100,000 persons and resulting in 1116 deaths per year (Nelson et al. 2016). In 2015, the United States reported >15000 cases of iGAS and 1600 deaths (Mosites et al. 2018). GAS cases have also been reported to have increased over time in Canada. The incidence rate for GAS infections in Canada in 2015 was 5.24 cases per 100,000 persons up from 2.4 cases per 100,000

4

persons in 2003 (Tyrrell et al. 2018). In the United Kingdom, the incidence rate of GAS is reported to be 2.9 cases per 100,000 persons per year (Watts et al. 2019). Outbreaks of GAS infections have been reported from community settings, institutions and within households (Sivagnanam et al. 2015).

Globally, GAS infections are not a public health notifiable disease except in a few countries like England, Wales, Japan, Canada, Norway, China and the United States although only specific GAS infections are reported (Yang et al. 2013; Ikebe et al. 2015; Oppegaard, Mylvaganam & Kittang 2015; Sivagnanam et al. 2015; Tyrrell et al. 2018; CDC 2019). In some countries it's only notifiable in some states. In Australia for example GAS is notifiable in the Northern Territory and Queensland only (Francis et al. 2019). In countries where GAS infections are notifiable, specific conditions are notifiable while others are not (Chen et al. 2017; Banigo et al. 2018; Mosites et al. 2018).

GAS infections are diseases of poverty (Carapetis et al. 2005; May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016; Barnett, Bowen & Carapetis 2019). They remain a significant problem in developing countries and the disadvantaged populations within developed countries where household crowding and social disadvantage exists (Francis et al. 2019). These communities report higher numbers of cases when compared with the number of cases in non-Indigenous populations. For example, the incidence rate of iGAS in Alaska in the United States in 2015 was 12.3 cases per 100,000 persons, more than twice that of the rest of the United States. In Canada, the incidence rate in Alberta where the Indigenous population live was 10.24 cases per 100,000 persons compared with 5.28 cases per 100,000 persons nationally (Tyrrell et al. 2018). In New Zealand, the incidence of GAS infections among Indigenous populations is 10-20 times higher than that of non-Indigenous populations (Chen et al. 2017).

The aim of this review was to examine population risk factors for GAS and the information regarding the success of different prevention and control strategies. This information will provide targeted advice to prevent the spread of GAS and reduce morbidity and mortality rates as a consequence.

1.2.1.3 Methods

The databases Scopus (n = 732) and Web of Science (n = 780) were searched for articles written in English over the last ten years with the keywords; group a step; group A streptococcus; Strep A; GAS; Streptococcus pyogenes; S. pyogenes; Group A streptococci AND control; prevention; public health; infection control; intervention*; management; risk factor*; risk*. Figure 1.1 presents the systematic approach to inclusion or exclusion. Articles were screened by reading titles and abstracts and initially excluded if they did not refer specifically to group A streptococcus or *Streptococcus pyogenes* or if they were review articles or not written in English. Further screening was done by reading the text in full to exclude articles that did not describe either at risk groups for the spread of these infections, risk factors for the spread of these infections or the prevention and control strategies of these infections. Any studies that focused on laboratory isolation of different GAS species only and a treatment regimen for GAS infections were also excluded. Since the aim of this study was to provide overall knowledge on GAS infections, risk factors for their spread and prevention and control strategies, all studies that met the inclusion criteria were included, regardless of any perceived faults in the study design.



Figure 1. 1: Overview of search methods and articles' inclusion and exclusion criteria

1.2.1.4 Results

After the inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied a total of 148 articles were included in this review. The key findings of these articles relating to GAS risk factors, routes of transmission and the prevention and control strategies are presented in Table 1.1.

Areas of prevalence

Group A streptococcus (GAS) infections were reported to be common in developing countries as seen in 15% of the reviewed studies and among the Indigenous populations in developed countries as reported by 20% of all studies reviewed. Specifically, GAS infections are reported to be endemic in low socioeconomic communities (Shetty, Mill & Eggleton 2014; Oliver et al. 2017; Ralph et al. 2019; Thielemans et al. 2020).

Mode of transmission

The mode of transmission for GAS infections was reported to be respiratory droplets and direct contact with infected people and surfaces as seen in 98% of all studies reviewed. However, a few studies demonstrated that transmission could also be foodborne through contaminated food (Kemble et al. 2013; Liu et al. 2014; Chen et al. 2017).

At risk groups

The population groups at most risk of being infected with GAS infections included people with underlying medical conditions (15%) of reviewed studies, school going children of 5-15 years (11%) and the elderly (10%). Additionally, pregnant women, women with postpartum status and neonates (9%) were also identified as groups at risk for GAS infections. When gender was considered, boys and men were reported to be more at risk of getting infected by GAS infections compared with girls and women (Yang et al. 2013; Langley et al. 2016; Lee, Cowling & Lau 2017; Liu et al. 2018; Tyrrell et al. 2018).

Common environments of exposure

The common environments for GAS infections included schools, nurseries and kindergartens (8%), hospitals (6%), homeless shelter environments (6%), care homes (4%) and military training facilities (1%) of reviewed studies.

Risk factors

Seven percent of the reviewed studies identified overcrowding as a major risk factor for the spread of GAS infections. Housing conditions such as dampness, poor ventilation and house temperature were also responsible for the transmission of GAS infections (3%). Contaminated surroundings and

surfaces (6%) and low socioeconomic status (Bennett et al. 2019; Cannon et al. 2019) also favoured the transmission of GAS infections

Other factors highlighted in the review that propagated the spread of GAS infections, especially in hospitals and care homes, included poor infection control practices (15%), cross infection by health care workers and other patients or residents (9%), contaminated hospital equipment (3%) and contaminated devices like intra uterine devices, catheters and penile constriction rings among others (Baker et al. 2019; Krughoff et al. 2020). Additionally, poor personal and hand hygiene (8%), exposure to asymptomatic persons or asymptomatic status due to previous GAS infection (Abd El-Ghany et al. 2015; Kobayashi et al. 2016; Lev-Sagie et al. 2017; Mearkle et al. 2017; Yokchoo et al. 2019), a high number of social contacts (Torres et al. 2016; Chen et al. 2017; Baker et al. 2019), limited household resources including sharing of personal items (Zhang et al. 2017; Adebanjo et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019; Dauby et al. 2019) were also highlighted to favour the transmission of GAS infections. This review also identified knowledge gaps on diagnosis and treatment guidelines among medical practitioners (Mathan, Erkart & Houlding 2017; Knoderer et al. 2019; Di Muzio et al. 2020), change of host immunity due to conditions like pregnancy or underlying medical conditions (Boie et al. 2015; Oliver et al. 2019a; Olp, Chamales & Schmiedecke 2020; Thielemans et al. 2020), environmental tobacco smoke exposure (Marshall et al. 2015; Bennett et al. 2019), exposure to biting insects and skin injuries or diseases (Sivagnanam et al. 2015; Adebanjo et al. 2018; Chadha et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019; Francis et al. 2019) as risk factors for GAS transmission. Poor wound care (10%) long term exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating or diverse gene types of GAS (6%) and inability to pay for quality health care services (Tartof et al. 2010; Allen et al. 2011; Torres et al. 2016; Adebanjo et al. 2018; Francis et al. 2019) were also noted as factors that made people vulnerable and susceptible. Seasonal variations (Oppegaard, Mylvaganam & Kittang 2015; Tyrrell et al. 2018; You et al. 2018; Barth et al. 2019; Oliver et al. 2019a), poor treatment success due to poor health seeking behaviour and antibiotic resistance (Lin et al. 2011; Abd El-Ghany et al. 2015; Siemens et al. 2016; Mathan, Erkart & Houlding 2017; Shakoor et al. 2017; Hammond-Collins et al. 2019) also favour the spread while intravenous drug injection and use of alcohol were also mentioned as risk factors (Adebanjo et al. 2018; Mosites et al. 2018; Tyrrell et al. 2018; Oliver et al. 2019a). However, one study contradicted this finding (Bundle et al. 2017).

Prevention and control strategies

In addressing prevention and control strategies for GAS infections, many studies (26%) suggested that early diagnosis and treatment was an effective way of prevention and control. Fifteen percent of the reviewed studies recommended effective use of infection control procedures in hospitals and care homes as preventive measures. Additionally, 9% suggested screening of asymptomatic cases and post exposure prophylaxis of vulnerable groups as a control measure. Occasional screening of health workers for GAS infections (7%) was also mentioned as a measure to prevent the spread.

8

Improved surveillance and epidemiological investigation were also emphasised (13%) as preventive measures for GAS infections. Four percent of the reviewed articles advocated for improved access to health care services as a control measure for GAS infections. Furthermore, health education at hospital and community levels (9%) including capacity building of health care workers on proper diagnosis and management of GAS infections (6%) were also advocated as preventive measures. Improved quality of housing was mentioned in 3% of the articles as a control measure for the infections.

Other prevention and control measures for these infections included environmental sanitation (Cummins et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2017; Dickinson et al. 2019; Wang et al. 2019), reduced or no overcrowding (Shetty et al. 2014; Cannon et al. 2019; Wang et al. 2019), improved personal hygiene (Lee, Cowling & Lau 2017; Adebanjo et al. 2018; Dauby et al. 2019), proper handwashing (Sosa 2016; Zhang et al. 2017; Dickinson et al. 2019; Francis et al. 2019; Hammond-Collins et al. 2019) and avoiding sharing of personal items (Zhang et al. 2017; Adebanjo et al. 2017; Adebanjo et al. 2017; Adebanjo et al. 2019; Francis et al. 2019; Hammond-Collins et al. 2019)

According to Seale et al. (2016) and Zhang et al. (2017), reduced malnutrition rates and reduced Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) infections were considered preventive measures for the spread of GAS infections. Reduced movement of children to new areas (Cannon et al. 2019; Francis et al. 2019), encouraging physical activity for children (Liu et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2017), sustainable skin disease control programs (May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016; Dauby et al. 2019) and early and improved treatment of skin infections and burns (Anderson et al. 2016; Seale et al. 2016; Ahmed et al. 2018; Francis et al. 2019) also helped to prevent or reduce the transmission.

For pregnant mothers and neonates, use of sepsis measures at delivery and antiseptic neonatal cord care (Seale et al. 2016) were suggested to be important measures to put in place to prevent GAS infections.

Improved microbial detection methods for GAS was also highlighted by 10% of reviewed articles as an efficient way to identify these bacteria and hence provide better management of infected persons, which is a way of reducing disease transmission.

Other methods that were proposed to reduce GAS transmission but are currently not used included vaccination (8%) and screening for GAS during pregnancy (Hamilton et al. 2013; Shinar et al. 2016). Currently, there is no licenced vaccine for GAS infections (Seale et al. 2016; Chochua et al. 2017; Makthal et al. 2017), moreover, there is no standard protocol in place to follow when screening for GAS in pregnancy (Hamilton et al. 2013).

1.2.1.5 Discussion

Areas of prevalence

The burden of GAS diseases and the association of these diseases with poverty cannot be ignored. Despite being in existence for hundreds of years, GAS still causes a substantial burden of disease and death on a global scale, mainly in children and young adults in less developed countries (Steer et al. 2016; Bono-Neri 2017; Barth et al. 2019; Oliver et al. 2019a; Ralph et al. 2019; Di Muzio et al. 2020). In low and middle income countries and in disadvantaged populations in high income countries like the United States and Australia, GAS infections have remained endemic over time (Harris et al. 2011; Mosites et al. 2018; Francis et al. 2019; Nakauyaca et al. 2019; Palladino et al. 2019). GAS infections also remain relatively important diseases in more developed countries. According to this review, the high diversity of GAS genotypes has led to the persistence of these infections globally (Ralph & Carapetis 2012; Ikebe et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017; Tyrrell et al. 2018; You et al. 2018). Strain variations also exist for GAS between developed and developing countries. Low income settings report high GAS strain diversity compared with high income settings (de Almeida Torres et al. 2013; Karaky et al. 2014; Barth et al. 2019). The reason as to why this is so is not clear (Steer et al. 2009), although Tarof et al. (2010) argue that local factors, such as crowding, may enhance the frequency of GAS transmission and horizontal gene transfers that contribute to increased strain diversity in such settings. A study carried out in South Africa showed that there were similarities of GAS strains when compared with the ones in Tunisia and Kenya but were different when compared with those of developed countries (Barth et al. 2019). Similarities in strain diversity were also reported in settings with similar living conditions which include Indigenous populations in developed countries, Africa and the Pacific region (de Almeida Torres et al. 2013; Mosites et al. 2018). This review also found that socially disadvantaged communities are heavily burdened by these infections due to their low socioeconomic status characterised by poor housing conditions and inability to afford medical care, among other factors (Ralph & Carapetis 2012; Kumar et al. 2014; Shetty, Mills & Eggleton 2014; Gray et al. 2017; Mathan, Erkart & Houlding 2017; Oliver et al. 2017; Francis et al. 2019). According to a study from the United Kingdom, interviews conducted with the patients, teachers and parents of children affected with rheumatic fever revealed that low socioeconomic status was common among most of the respondents (Cannon et al. 2019). Furthermore, poor living conditions and inability to afford medical care, evidence of low socioeconomic status (Steer et al. 2016), were reported by these respondents. In Australia, records indicate that GAS infections and their sequalae among the Indigenous Australians continue to persist at equal or higher levels when compared with cases in developing countries (May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016). Tropical regions of Northern Queensland and the Northern Territory, the only states that report GAS infections as notifiable diseases, have the highest reported rates, with incidence in Indigenous populations ranging from 23.9 to 82.5 cases per 100,000 persons and non-Indigenous from 4.7 to 10.3 cases per 100,000 persons. This has been linked to the higher proportion of Indigenous people in northern Australia who experience high levels of socioeconomic disadvantage and household overcrowding (Boyd et al. 2016). In Alaska in the United States, a region where

Indigenous Americans live, the incidence rate of GAS infections in 2015 was 12.3 cases per 100,000 persons, a rate that was more than twice that of the rest of the United States (Mosites et al. 2018).

Transmission

GAS is responsible for causing a range of infections which include rheumatic fever, necrotising fasciitis, post streptococcal glomerulonephritis, pharyngitis, strep throat and scarlet fever (Cunningham 2000; WHO 2005; Efstratiou & Lamagni 2017; Barth et al. 2019; Rivera-Hernandez et al. 2020; Worthing et al. 2020). The common symptoms for these infections include high fever, severe muscle aches, localised muscle tenderness and sometimes redness at the site of a wound (WHO 2005; Bono-Neri 2017; Worthing et al. 2020). The incubation period for these infections is 1-3 days after exposure (Vincent, Celestin & Hussain 2004).

Humans are the only natural reservoir for GAS (Ralph & Carapetis 2012; Qing-Zeng et al. 2013), although animals like cows can also be reservoirs for some GAS species. When infected by humans, they become intermediate hosts and pass on the bacterium in milk which if consumed unpasteurised can infect other humans (McDaniel et al. 2014).

Findings of this review showed that transmission of GAS is majorly through respiratory droplets or skin contact with broken skin that has secretions from infected sores on the skin (Al-ajmi et al. 2012; Beaudoin et al. 2014; Walker et al. 2014; Sosa 2016; Steer et al. 2016; Efstratiou & Lamagni 2017; Zhang et al. 2017; Sharma et al. 2019; Olp, Chamales & Schmiedecke 2020). The environment is also a potential reservoir and facilitates transmission through contaminated equipment, surfaces, dust and fomites (Beaudoin et al. 2014; Mahida et al. 2014; Sosa 2016; Banigo et al. 2018; Mahida et al. 2018; Dickinson et al. 2019; Sharma et al. 2019), however, very few current studies have explored this area hence it is an area for further research. Foodborne GAS infections as a result of contaminated food sources also exist (Katzenell, Shemer & Bar-Dayan 2001; Kemble et al. 2013; Walker et al. 2014; Chen et al. 2017) as seen in this review. GAS has been proven to survive in ice cream (18 days), raw and pasteurised milk at 15-37 °C (96 hours), room temperature butter (48 hours) and neutralised butter (12-17 days) (International Commission on Microbiological Specifications for Foods 1996). Additionally, GAS has been found to last several days in salads at room temperature (Katzenell, Shemer & Bar-Dayan 2001). An investigation of a GAS outbreak in China in 2014 among a film crew demonstrated that foodborne outbreaks due to GAS infections exist, although they are very rare. However, these outbreaks are always difficult to recognise at early stages and hence usually ignored by health care workers (Liu et al. 2014). From the literature reviewed, very few studies have been done with regards to foodborne GAS and therefore more research needs to be done on the same.

Common areas of infection

GAS infections are commonly spread in schools, nurseries and kindergartens, hospitals, care homes, military camps and homeless shelters (Cummins et al. 2012; Beaudoin et al. 2014; Engelthaler et al. 2016; Sosa 2016; Lee, Cowling & Lau 2017; Zhang et al. 2017; Hammond-Collins et al. 2019; Sharma et al. 2019; Watts et al. 2019; Worthing et al. 2020) as highlighted in this review. A review of epidemiological data for scarlet fever for the period 2005-2015 conducted by Zhang et al. (2017) in Hong Kong showed that the infections were higher during the months when schools were open. Additionally, more cases were reported among children who attended nurseries and kindergartens. This was attributed to low immunity in this population group and high populations in these settings (Lee, Cowling & Lau 2017; Zhang et al. 2017; You et al. 2018).

Cummins et al. (2012) review of 20 outbreaks in care homes showed high infection rates existed as a result of cross infection from infected home care residents to the healthy residents as well as infections from home care staff to residents. However, cross infection from care staff was slightly lower compared with cross infection among residents. This is supported by Dooling et al. (2013) and Deutscher et al. (2011b). Incidence of GAS in residents of long-term care facilities is also higher (3-8 fold) than among community residents of the same age (Saavedra-Campos et al. 2017; Nanduri et al. 2019).

This review identified hospitals as high-risk areas for infections (Beaudoin et al. 2014; Sosa 2016; Ahmed et al. 2018; Mahida et al. 2018; Sharma et al. 2019). This was attributed to poor surgical procedures, contaminated medical instruments or hospital environment and cross infection from other patients and healthcare workers (Beaudoin et al. 2014; Sosa 2016; Sharma et al. 2019).

According to Engelthaler et al. (2016), evidence from a study conducted on clients from homeless shelters and jails in the United States showed that conditions in these settings favoured transmission of GAS infections. A comparable study conducted in Canada also reported similar findings (Athey et al. 2016). Hammond-Collins et al. (2019) conducted a study on GAS infected cases between August 2016 to January 2018 in Belgium. The results showed incidence rates of 2333 cases per 100,000 persons in homeless groups and 25 cases per 100,000 persons in non-homeless groups showing a higher incidence (100 times higher) for homeless persons compared with non-homeless persons. An outbreak investigation in homeless shelters in Canada in 2019 supported the same findings (Dohoo et al. 2020).

At risk groups

GAS affects anyone in any population (Lanitis et al. 2012; Okuzono et al. 2018). However, GAS infections are most common in children 5-15 years old and the elderly (Giraldez-Garcia et al. 2011; Steer et al. 2016; Lee, Cowing & Lau 2017; Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019; Cannon et al. 2019; Oliver et al. 2019b; Di Muzio et al. 2020) as demonstrated in this review. Eleven percent of the total reviewed articles reported children of school going age as the most vulnerable group for these

infections. Findings of a population-based case control study undertaken in New Zealand between 2010 and 2014 showed that 79.1% of new cases were reported in children 5-17 years old and cases were rare in children 4 years and below (Baker et al. 2019). This was also reported in studies from the United Kingdom in 2013 where most cases were children 5-14 years old (Cannon et al. 2019). Additionally, a review of scarlet fever cases for the period 2005-2015 in Hong Kong revealed high incidence among children 5-15 years, although those at most risk were children 3-5 years of age. A finding that slightly contradicted the general findings of the study. However this age group includes children just entering kindergarten since the average Hong Kong kindergarten admits children from the age of two years and eight months and above (Lee, Cowling & Lau 2017). Even though any person of any age group can be an asymptomatic case of GAS (Sosa 2016; Drayß et al. 2019) most of these asymptomatic cases are children (Yokchoo et al. 2019). Asymptomatic cases are rare in young adults and the elderly (Pearson et al. 2017; Drayß et al. 2019). Asymptomatic persons act as reservoirs for these bacteria and therefore pose a great risk of transmission (Vijaya, Sathish & Tanakaram 2013; Yokchoo et al. 2019).

According to this review, the elderly population is also vulnerable to GAS infections (Lin et al. 2011; Dooling et al. 2013; Lin et al. 2013; Efstratiou & Lamagni 2017; Teatero et al. 2018). A study of the review of GAS outbreaks in Europe conducted by Cummins et al. (2012) established that 20 out of 31 outbreaks that occurred between 1992 and 2008 were related to residential care homes. Chalker et al. (2016) also showed that many cases of GAS infections were common in the elderly population especially those over 70 years. Mearkle et al. (2017) argue that there is increased risk for GAS infections among couples 75 years and older when exposed to asymptomatic cases.

People with underlying medical conditions are equally highly vulnerable to GAS infections as seen in the reviewed articles (Malota et al. 2015; Follmann, Huang & Gabriel 2016; Seale et al. 2016; Sosa 2016; Brennan & LeFevre 2019; Cannon et al. 2019; Oliver et al. 2019a; Dohoo et al. 2020; Thielemans et al. 2020). Most respondents to an interview carried out on cases, their parents, spouses and teachers of 59 cases of acute rheumatic fever, from the United Kingdom reported that they had an underlying medical condition (Cannon et al. 2019). This review also showed that previous skin conditions and recent wounds were some of the medical conditions that favoured the transmission of GAS infections (Hodgins et al. 2015; Athey et al. 2016; Adebanjo et al. 2018; Mosites et al. 2018; Tyrrell et al. 2018; Dohoo et al. 2020). Pre-existing medical conditions and co-infections like influenza, malnutrition, diabetes mellitus, HIV and malaria also expose people to GAS infections due to reduced immunity to fight infections (Lin et al. 2013; Hodgins et al. 2015; Follmann, Huang & Gabriel 2016; Seale et al. 2016; Gray et al. 2017; Linder et al. 2017). Immunocompromised persons are susceptible to GAS infections regardless of age (Laatiris et al. 2012; Malota et al. 2015; Linder et al. 2017). Sosa (2016) argues that pre-existing medical conditions in pregnancy can cause GAS infections to progress to toxic shock syndrome or necrotising fasciitis, severe types of GAS infections. This review also reported changes in host immunity especially during pregnancy as a

13

factor that exposed women to GAS infections (Anderson 2014, Gendron et al. 2014; Boie et al. 2015; Olp, Chamales & Schmiedecke 2020), however, GAS should not be underestimated because it can infect even healthy individuals (Lanitis et al. 2012).

From the reviewed articles it can be seen that pregnant women, women with postpartum status and neonates are also classified as vulnerable groups (Deutscher et al. 2011a; Anderson 2014; Sosa 2016; Steer et al. 2016; Mearkle et al. 2017; Kawaguchi et al. 2019; Riad et al. 2020). Results of a study carried out by Rottenstreich et al. (2019) reported that pregnant women were 20 times more at risk of GAS infections than non-pregnant women. This has been attributed to changes in host immunity due to pregnancy or postpartum status (Anderson 2014; Gendron et al. 2014; Boie et al. 2015; Olp, Chamales & Schmiedecke 2020). Studies carried out on pregnant women also reveal that GAS infections can cause abortions, still births and neonatal deaths (Deutscher et al. 2011a). Additionally, caesarean sections undertaken with contaminated medical instruments expose pregnant women to GAS infections (Sosa 2016). Lactation also reduces the availability of protective vaginal flora like lactobacillus hence increases the chances of the growth of other microorganisms like GAS (Verstraelen et al. 2011; Kawaguchi et al. 2017). Increased incidence has also been reported in infants (Steer et al. 2016; Gray et al. 2017) mainly through exposure to asymptomatic persons in the households or mother to neonate cross infection (Waddington, Snelling & Carapetis 2014; Mearkle et al. 2017).

In terms of gender, the review showed that higher incidence rates of GAS infections are reported in men compared with women (Lin et al. 2011; Yang et al. 2013; Langley et al. 2016; Efstratiou & Lamagni 2017; Liu et al. 2018; Tyrrell et al. 2018). More cases are also reported in boys compared with girls (Lee, Cowling & Lau 2017; Liu et al. 2018). According to a study carried out in China, scarlet fever cases data extracted for the period 2004-2016 showed that incidence among boys and men was 1.54 times greater than that among girls and women before the upsurge, and 1.51 times greater after the upsurge (Liu et al. 2018). Lee, Cowling and Lau (2017) attribute this high risk to more physical interactions and poorer personal hygiene among boys. In the United Kingdom however, there is an even distribution of cases across genders (Mearkle et al. 2017). Very little is known about why the incidence is higher in men than in women.

Risk factors for GAS infections

Faster transmission of GAS is stimulated by several factors. In the 20th century, most developed countries contained the spread of these infections. This was attributed to improved living conditions (Ralph & Carapetis 2012; May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016), however, this was not the case for the developing countries and the Indigenous populations in developed countries. Poor housing conditions characterised by dampness, poor ventilation and lack of temperature control, continue to exist among these communities and hence encourage the transmission of these infections (Ralph & Carapetis 2012; Liu et al. 2014; Oliver et al. 2017; Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019; Francis et al.

2019). According to a descriptive study carried out by Oliver et al. (2017) in New Zealand which involved interviewing 55 cases of acute rheumatic fever, respondents confirmed that cold, damp houses increased transmission of infection.

Overcrowding especially at household level, in military camps, in enclosed social places and other institutions, is the decisive environmental factor for the spread of GAS infections (Tartof et al. 2010; Mearkle et al. 2017; Baker et al. 2019; Bennett et al. 2019; Cannon et al. 2019). Due to overcrowding, coughing or sneezing from one infected person in the family or crowd can easily infect others (Walker et al. 2014). Since these bacteria are believed to survive on dry surfaces and materials for up to 6.5 months, there is increased likelihood of their transmission in overcrowded settings (Kramer, Schwebke & Krampf 2006).

Contamination in hospitals is also a risk factor that the review highlighted and needs to be addressed if infection at hospital level is to be prevented or controlled. This contamination ranges from shared hospital equipment (Beaudoin et al. 2014; Sosa 2016; Sharma et al. 2019), surroundings like curtains, furniture, walls and floors (Mahida et al. 2014; Winter 2014; Teatero et al. 2018; Dickinson et al. 2019) and devices or implants (Iwata & Iwase 2017; Baker et al. 2019; Olp, Chamales & Schmiedecke 2020). Contamination from health care workers due to poor infection control practices can also occur (Beaudoin et al. 2014; Ahmed et al. 2018; Dickinson et al. 2019; Nanduri et al. 2019).

Substandard infection control practices, including errors in equipment sterilisation, lack of cleaning and disinfection of shared hospital equipment, lack of proper use of personal protective equipment, poor waste management and disposal and poor wound care practices, are also major contributors to the transmission of GAS infections in hospitals (Beaudoin et al. 2014; Ahmed et al. 2018; Nanduri et al. 2019; Sharma et al. 2019). According to a study by Mahida et al. (2014) in an Ear Nose and Throat ward in 2014 in the United Kingdom, ward curtains sampled and tested for GAS during an outbreak in a hospital showed that ten out of thirty-four curtains tested positive for GAS.

This review also showed that cross infection by asymptomatic health care workers to elderly residents in care homes, especially those who work in more than one care home, is also very common (Deutscher et al. 2011b; Cummins et al. 2012; Ibrahim et al. 2016). Cross infection, by health workers colonised with GAS, to patients, was also reported to occur in hospitals (Qing-Zeng et al. 2013; Beaudoin et al. 2014).

Exposure to asymptomatic persons or cases of GAS infections can also occur at the household level (Lamden 2011; Verstraelen et al. 2011). Such exposure is high in overcrowded households as discussed earlier. In addition, limited household resources, such as those of washing and laundry, contribute to an increase in bacterial load on the skin of household members or objects in the house, resulting in increased transmission. Moreover, sharing bedding and personal items like towels is also

a predisposing factor for transmission of GAS infections (Lee, Cowling & Lau 2017; Zhang et al. 2017; Baker et al. 2019).

According to this review, high numbers of social contacts, which is a key environmental factor for GAS transmission, and very common in schools, hospitals and other enclosed social places increases the chances of transmission of GAS infections (Bono-Neri 2017; Chen et al. 2017; Baker et al. 2019). Exposure to asymptomatic persons in such settings and in overcrowded homes also increases the transmission of these infections, especially among the most vulnerable populations (Mearkle et al. 2017).

Personal hygiene and hand hygiene are key to control and prevention of communicable diseases like the common cold, diphtheria, rubella and GAS infections (Checchi 2009; Winter 2014; Dauby et al. 2019). Poor personal and hand hygiene have been proven to be risk factors for GAS infections in all age groups (Athey et al. 2016; Hancock-Allen et al. 2016; Kobayashi et al. 2016; Chen et al. 2017; Adebanjo et al. 2018; Teatero et al. 2018). However, school going children, especially boys have been reported to be highly susceptible: this has been attributed to lower hygiene standards among the boys (Lee, Cowling & Lau 2017). Poor hygiene practices, like infrequent tooth brushing, among people living in homeless shelters, also contributes to increased risk of GAS spread among these population groups (Adebanjo et al. 2018).

Inability to afford quality health care is also a driving factor for the continued existence and transmission of many infections including GAS infections. Most disadvantaged populations have very low incomes therefore are unable to afford good health insurance plans hence persistent health problems (Tartof et al. 2010; Allen et al. 2011; Adebanjo et al. 2018; Francis et al. 2019).

This review also identified broken skin as a risk factor for GAS transmission. Healthy skin provides a barrier of protection against infections (Whitehead, Smith & Nourse 2011; Anderson et al. 2016; Teatero et al. 2018). When broken, it provides a good growth environment for GAS hence high chances of infection (Siemens et al. 2016; Adebanjo et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019; Dauby et al. 2019).

Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long-term exposure to severe air pollutants, factors highlighted in this review, compromise the immune system thus exposing people to infections including GAS infections (Hodgins et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019).

This review showed that GAS bacteria exists in more than 250 gene types and mutates rapidly. This has led to minimal cross immunity within communities hence increased risk of transmission (Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011; Ikebe et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2018; Tyrrell et al. 2018). Multi drug resistance to antibiotic treatment for GAS infections, a factor that leads to treatment failure in some communities, has influenced the persistence of these infections in the affected populations

(Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011; Walker et al. 2014; Lee, Crowling & Lau 2017; Brennan-Krohn, Ozonoff & Sandora 2018).

Knowledge gaps on proper diagnosis and management of GAS infections among health workers still exist (Dooling et al. 2013; Smit, Nyquist & Todd 2013; Karaky et al. 2014; Mathan, Erkart & Houlding 2017; Di Muzio et al. 2020). A study carried out in Italy in 2017-2018 on paediatricians' knowledge on the diagnosis and management of GAS infections showed that only 8% of 6160 paediatricians understood the diagnosis and treatment guidelines on GAS diagnosis and management and therefore were able to adhere to the guidelines. Only half or fewer of the questions asked were answered by almost half (40.8%) of the paediatricians (Di Muzio, d'Angelo et al. 2020).

Seasonal variation was also reported as a factor that influenced the transmission of GAS infections. High cases were seen to be reported during winter and early spring months (Yang et al. 2013; Oppegaard, Mylvaganam & Kittang 2015; Tyrrell et al. 2018; Barth et al. 2019; Oliver et al. 2019a).

GAS biofilms can also form on human tissues especially in necrotising soft tissue infections (Siemens et al. 2016). It is therefore necessary for clinicians to consider this when administering treatment to avoid further complications or treatment failure that can lead to death.

Alcohol and intravenous drug use are also risk factors for GAS infections (Athey et al. 2016; Cornick et al. 2017; Kwiatkowska et al. 2018; Teatero et al. 2018; Tyrrell et al. 2018) as has been reported in many studies involving people in homeless shelters (Teatero et al. 2018). However, not all GAS cases found in populations which inject drugs or use alcohol are directly linked to these factors. An outbreak investigation carried out in England among GAS cases who were injecting drug users, alcoholics or both, revealed that transmission of these infections was not associated with alcohol or drug use (Bundle et al. 2017), however, very few studies have explored this factor and this therefore presents an area for future research.

Prevention and control measures/strategies

Strategies aiming to prevent or treat GAS infections should be feasible, accessible and affordable especially in low resource settings (Ralph & Carapetis 2012). Prevention and control of GAS infections has been approached from public and environmental health and clinical perspectives, however, most of the intervention programs available focus more on clinical intervention and there is limited data on possible infection prevention strategies in the community (Turner et al. 2017). The available public health strategies focus on minimising transmission and protection of the people most vulnerable to GAS infections in all areas with increased potential for infection. Primary preventive strategies are also necessary since they prevent irreversible health conditions that may arise from complications due to GAS infections (Kumar et al. 2014; Nakauyaca et al. 2019): these strategies include epidemiological investigations and improved surveillance systems (Hamilton, Stevens &

Bryant 2013; Engelthaler et al. 2016; May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016; Turner et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2017; Liu et al. 2018; Oliver et al. 2019b; Sharma et al. 2019), improved quality of housing (Tartof et al. 2010; May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016; Steer et al. 2016; Francis et al. 2019), good hand hygiene which includes regular proper hand washing with soap and water, or use of alcohol hand rub (Sosa 2016; Zhang et al. 2017; Ahmed et al. 2018; Dickinson et al. 2019; Francis et al. 2019; Hammond-Collins et al. 2019; Nanduri et al. 2019) and avoiding overcrowding (Shetty et al. 2014; Cannon et al. 2019). Improved personal hygiene is also key in controlling transmission especially in boys who tend to be more at risk than girls (Lee, Cowling & Lau 2017). Limited or no sharing of personal items like towels and even bedding should be encouraged to reduce the spread of GAS infections (Zhang et al. 2017; Dauby et al. 2019). Sharing of items that could be contaminated with saliva, such as water bottles, drinking glasses, utensils, etc. should also be avoided (Adebanjo et al. 2018).

Environmental sanitation should be maintained in all social places, schools, hospitals, residential care homes and all areas considered risky transmission zones (Cummins et al. 2012; Saavedra-Campos et al. 2017; Zhang et al. 2017; Dickinson et al. 2019). These bacteria have been reported to be susceptible to moist heat of 121°C for at least 15 minutes and dry heat of 170°C for at least 1 hour. In addition, the bacteria are also susceptible to 1% sodium hypochlorite, 4% formaldehyde, 2% glutaraldehyde, 70% ethanol, 70% propanol, 2% peracetic acid, 3-6% hydrogen peroxide and 16% iodine (Block 2001; Winter 2014). Therefore, disinfection and sterilisation of high touch or potentially contaminated surfaces using the specifications above can control transmission (Mahida et al. 2018; Nanduri et al. 2019). Constant disinfection and cleaning of shared equipment, especially in hospitals, should be encouraged (Dooling et al. 2013; Ahmed et al. 2018). This review also highlights decontamination and thorough cleaning of curtains and communal facilities, such as bathrooms and toilets, as key measures in prevention of infections such as GAS infections (Winter 2014; Dickinson et al. 2019). Curtains in high risk areas such as hospital settings should also be changed frequently: once a month in high risk areas and in low risk areas twice a year (Mahida et al. 2014, Winter 2014). Placing handwashing basins or hand sanitisers close to where curtains are opened or closed could help prevent cross contamination from contaminated hands (Mahida et al. 2014). Hospitals should also consider using disposable curtains or plastic screens instead of washable curtains (Mahida et al. 2014, Winter 2014).

On the other hand, medical personnel should adhere to infection control practices when handling patients in hospitals. This review emphasised proper use of personal protective equipment, aseptic management of wounds, and proper disposal of medical waste (Al-ajmi et al. 2012; Cho & Fernando 2013; Beaudoin et al. 2014; Chalker et al. 2016; Ahmed et al. 2018; Dickinson et al. 2019; Palladino et al. 2019; Sharma et al. 2019; Watts et al. 2019; Dohoo et al. 2020) as some of the infection control practices. Medical practitioners are also required to adhere to diagnosis and treatment guidelines to effectively control GAS infections (Smith et al. 2012; Mathan, Erkart & Houlding 2017; Di Muzio et al. 2020) as seen in the reviewed articles. This review also advocates for proper management of co-

infections such as influenza and diabetes mellitus (Yip et al. 2016; Saavedra-Campos et al. 2017; Hupp, Kallstrom & Myers 2018; Oliver et al. 2019a) and patients who have undergone surgical interventions such as tonsillectomy and other similar operations (Banigo et al. 2018; Hupp, Kallstrom & Myers 2018) so as to reduce risk of development of GAS infections.

Screening of health workers, asymptomatic cases including social contacts and family members of infected persons, and post exposure prophylaxis for vulnerable groups is encouraged (Hamilton, Stevens & Bryant 2013; Cohen et al. 2019; Dauby et al. 2019; Dickinson et al. 2019; Hammond-Collins et al. 2019; Nanduri et al. 2019; Oliver et al. 2019b; Rottenstreich et al. 2019). Successful screening should include both the throat and peritoneal sites (Shinar et al. 2016; Mahida et al. 2018). However, lack of official guidelines concerning the prevention of secondary disease using contact prophylaxis remains a challenge in many countries (Oliver et al. 2019b). In addition, chemoprophylaxis can sometimes be ineffective especially in controlling outbreaks due to the introduction of new strains as a result of the mutating nature of GAS (Nanduri et al. 2019). In addition, jurisdictional variation in chemoprophylaxis recommendations also exists in different countries and even states within the same country (Oliver et al. 2017; Oliver et al. 2019b).

Health education for health care providers, patients and communities is key for prevention of GAS infections (Smith et al. 2012; Shetty, Mills & Eggleton 2014; Bridges 2015, Engelthaler et al. 2016; Bono-Neri 2017; Gray et al. 2017; Mearkle et al. 2017; Dickinson et al. 2019; Hammond-Collins et al. 2019). This should include messages that encourage people to cover coughs or sneezes with a tissue or a forearm, which is effective in prevention of most infections transmitted through respiratory droplet (CDC 2009; Hammond-Collins et al. 2019). Messages on proper health seeking behaviour should also be emphasised since this also helps to reduce disease spread through treatment success (Allen et al. 2011; Shakoor et al. 2017; Hammond-Collins et al. 2019). Capacity building of health workers on GAS infections and their control, treatment guidelines and infection prevention practices, which include aseptic wound care, should be undertaken (Ralph & Carapetis 2012; Bridges 2015, Gray et al. 2017; May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016): this will help to reduce existing knowledge gaps in GAS prevention and management. Health care workers will also be able to provide targeted advice to clients and hence, break the transmission chain (Hancock-Allen et al. 2016; Ibrahim et al. 2016; Paulson et al. 2016; Brennan-Krohn, Ozonoff & Sandora 2018; Rößler et al. 2018; Di Muzio et al. 2020). After training is completed, facilities should try to avoid high staff turnover which is likely to contribute to knowledge gaps in the control and management of GAS infections (Dooling et al. 2013).

This review also advocated for strengthened sustainable programs that aim to reduce preventable medical conditions among the vulnerable populations. These programs include HIV prevention, malnutrition prevention, and skin disease prevention (Hamilton, Stevens & Bryant 2013; Liu et al.

2015; Anderson et al. 2016; Langley et al. 2016; Seale et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2017; Adebanjo et al. 2018) among other programs.

Cannon et al. (2019) and Francis et al. (2019) argue that exchange in residential areas for the population at most risk for GAS infections, especially children, should be minimised if not avoided. Physical activity, which helps to boost immune systems should be encouraged for all populations with a special focus on children (Liu et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2017).

People working in high risk areas or sick children are encouraged to stay at home once they are diagnosed with GAS infections until they finish their medication and are well (Lamden 2011; Al-ajmi et al. 2012; Qing-Zeng et al. 2013; Kobayashi et al. 2016). This review also highlighted isolation of patients or residents infected with GAS in hospitals or care homes as a prevention measure for further GAS transmission (Deutscher et al. 2011b; Inkster et al. 2012).

Clinical intervention, such as early accurate diagnosis and treatment as an effective preventive measure for GAS infections, was highly advocated for (Di Pierro et al. 2013; Lu et al. 2013; Hernandez & Wolk 2015; Hikone et al. 2015; Chalker et al. 2016; Chen et al. 2016; Paulson et al. 2016; Mearkle et al. 2017; Liu et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2019; Dohoo et al. 2020). The use of a recommended antibiotic regimen to treat GAS infections is believed to shorten the duration of symptoms and therefore reduces the likelihood of transmission to family members, classmates, and other close contacts. It also prevents the development of complications, including acute rheumatic fever (Cunningham 2000; Krishna et al. 2014; Nakauyaca et al. 2019). According to an outbreak investigation carried out in a military camp in Canada between December 2016 and April 2017, reluctance to seek medical care, and low compliance with antibiotics, were reported as factors that hindered treatment success which led to the increased spread of GAS infection (Hammond-Collins et al. 2019), patients are therefore advised to adhere to the treatment advice to avoid treatment failure and therefore reduce disease spread (Giraldez-Garcia et al. 2011; Abd El-Ghany et al. 2015; Mathan, Erkart & Houlding 2017; Di Pierro 2019; Hammond-Collins et al. 2019). In addition, early and improved treatment of skin infections and burns (Cunningham 2000; May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016; Adebanjo et al. 2018; Dauby et al. 2019) has been encouraged as a prevention measure.

Support of antisepsis measures during delivery and neonatal cord care (Seale et al. 2016) is also important in GAS transmission control among birthing women and neonates as seen in the reviewed articles.

This review also advocated for aggressive management of clients by health care workers, especially those with underlying medical conditions and those with medical implants, intrauterine devices or other implants (Laatiris et al. 2012; Cho & Fernando 2013; Hodgins et al. 2015; Follmann et al. 2016; Dohoo et al. 2020; Krughoff et al. 2020). Management of patients without underlying medical conditions according to set standards and guidelines should also be practised at hospital level to

prevent GAS transmission and complications as a result of GAS infections (Anderson 2014; Shetty, Mills & Eggleton 2014; Bura et al. 2017; Ahmed et al. 2018; Di Muzio et al. 2020).

Use of non-antibiotics for treatment of GAS infections was also mentioned in one of the reviewed articles as a prevention measure that could be considered (Di Pierro et al. 2013). This would reduce antibiotic resistance leading to treatment failure which is one of the factors favouring transmission of GAS infections (Lee, Cowling & Lau 2017; Brennan-Krohn, Ozonoff & Sandora 2018; Rivera-Hernandez et al. 2020), however, very few studies have been done on non-antibiotic treatment of GAS and therefore this is an area that needs to be explored further.

Improved detection methods for GAS, like whole genome sequencing enables early detection of the infections leading to effective medication hence reduced transmission rate (Fittipaldi et al. 2013; Tagini et al. 2017; Turner et al. 2017; Knoderer et al. 2019; Nanduri et al. 2019). Safe injection practices should also be encouraged among people who inject drugs (Kwiatkowska et al. 2018) as reported in this review. This will prevent and control GAS transmission rates in these populations.

Governments should ensure availability of affordable and accessible health care services to all citizens (Tartof et al. 2010; May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016; Steer et al. 2016; Oliver et al. 2017; Adebanjo et al. 2018; Francis et al. 2019) to prevent and control all infections. Equitable resource distribution is key in reducing social disadvantage which highly influences GAS transmission (Ralph & Carapetis 2012).

Currently there is no licenced vaccine for the control of GAS infections (Efstratiou & Lamagni 2017; Bi et al. 2019; Oliver et al. 2019a; Rivera-Hernandez et al. 2020), although development of a vaccine is underway (WHO 2005; Waddington, Snelling & Carapetis 2014; Seth et al. 2016; Makthal et al. 2017). This process has been hindered by factors like the availability of various unique GAS serotypes, antigenic variations within the same serotype, safety concerns and lack of consensus on clinical endpoints for establishment of proof of concept (Cunningham 2000; Walker et al. 2014; Gupta et al. 2016; Seth et al. 2016; Bi et al. 2019; Vekemans et al. 2019). Studies in this review however indicate that vaccination could help reduce these diseases and therefore highly recommend its development and use (Seale et al. 2016; Chochua et al. 2017; Makthal et al. 2017; Barth et al. 2019; Dauby et al. 2019, Oliver et al. 2019b). Rivera-Hernandez et al. (2020) suggests that vaccination can reduce antibiotic use and therefore reduced antibiotic resistance. Reducing antibiotic resistance will further reduce transmission of GAS infections through increased treatment success as discussed earlier. Studies have also proposed screening for invasive GAS during pregnancy to prevent transmission to pregnant women who are a high-risk group for GAS infections (Hamilton, Stevens & Bryant 2013; Shinar et al. 2016; Alexander et al. 2018).

GAS is an important global pathogen with diverse clinical manifestations and limited epidemiological data (Kumar et al. 2014; Turner et al. 2017; Barth et al. 2019; Worthing et al. 2020). Currently, lack

of mandatory patient notification in most countries limits the ability of public health programs to effectively target, prevent and control this condition (Ralph & Carapetis 2012; Sivagnanam et al. 2015; Oliver et al. 2019a; Thielemans et al. 2020; Worthing et al. 2020). In addition, standard guidelines on management and treatment of these infections do not exist in most countries (Oliver et al. 2019b). Most studies and countries focus more on clinical management of the infections rather than prevention at community level. Since GAS diseases are not notifiable worldwide, conducting informed public health and research initiatives aiming to reduce the impact of these conditions still remains a challenge (Barth et al. 2019; Oliver et al. 2019b). Efforts to improve reporting systems, scaling up public and environmental health interventions at community level coupled with effective treatment of cases, will help reduce the transmission rate (Sanyahumbi et al. 2016; Oliver et al. 2019a; Oliver et al. 2019b, Thielemans, Oliver et al. 2020, Worthing et al. 2020). A multi-disciplinary approach in control of GAS infections will also help reinforce infection control strategies (Bard et al. 2017; Demoré et al. 2018; Kwiatkowska et al. 2018).

1.2.1.6 Conclusion

This review identified that GAS infections are responsible for morbidity and mortality worldwide, yet the infections are still ignored, however, a higher disease burden exists in developing countries and indigenous populations in developed countries. Currently, these infections have been reported in other populations in developed countries and therefore their re-emergence needs to be addressed. Though some outbreaks have been investigated, and studies done show that GAS is transmitted through respiratory droplets and contact, future research also needs to investigate foodborne GAS infections and other environments that allow GAS survival to better understand the bacteria and reduce available transmission routes. Since the incidence is higher in school going children, this condition should be considered and addressed as children of this age are still developing and such infections can affect their education and consequently their societal development in the future creating a cycle for the disease. To break this cycle, public health community-based preventive measures need to be strengthened. Making GAS diseases notifiable at the national level would help to inform public health and research initiatives aiming to reduce the impact of this condition. Governments also need to consider greater equity in distribution of resources, which will raise living standards and hence reduce the burden of communicable diseases such as GAS infections. Moreover, action should be taken to ensure all citizens access quality health care, which is essential in reducing disease burden in communities.

Table 1. 1: Synthesis of the key findings relating to GAS risk factors, modes of transmission and the prevention and control strategies found in the articles that met the inclusion and exclusion criteria (described in Figure 1.1) and were included in this review

		REFERENCES
Common areas of prevalence	Developing countries	International
		Commission on
		Microbiological
		Specifications for Foods
		1996; Carapetis et al.
		2005; Kramer,
		Schwebke & Kampf
		2006
	Indigenous communities in	Carapetis et al. 2005;
	developed countries	Kramer, Schwebke &
		Kampf 2006; Di Pierro
		et al. 2013
	Socially deprived	Shetty, Mills & Eggleton
	communities	2014; Oliver et al. 2017
Mode of transmission	Respiratory droplets and	Al-ajmi et al. 2012;
	contact with infected	Beaudoin et al. 2014;
	persons or surfaces	Sosa 2016; Steer et al.
		2016; Zhang et al.
		2017; Sharma et al.
		2019
	Contaminated food	Kemble et al. 2013; Liu
		et al. 2014; Chen et al.
		2017
Common areas of exposure to	Schools, nurseries and	Lee, Cowling & Lau
GAS infections	kindergartens	2017; Zhang et al.
		2017; Watts et al. 2019
	Hospitals	Sharma et al. 2019;
		Watts et al. 2019
	Care homes	Cummins et al. 2012;
		Watts et al. 2019

	Military training facilities	Chen et al. 2017;
		Hammond-Collins et al.
		2019
	Homeless shelters	Engelthaler et al. 2016;
		Adebanjo et al. 2018;
		Mosites et al. 2018;
		Teatero et al. 2018;
		Tyrrell et al. 2018
At risk groups	Children 5-15 years old	Liu et al. 2014; Steer et
		al. 2016; Lee, Cowling
		& Lau 2017; Liu et al.
		2018; Baker et al. 2019;
		Cannon et al. 2019;
		Dohoo et al. 2020
	Elderly	Cummins et al. 2012;
		Chalker et al. 2016;
		Steer et al. 2016;
		Mearkle et al. 2017
	People with underlying	Seale et al. 2016; Sosa
	medical conditions	2016, Cannon et al.
		2019; Dohoo et al. 2020
	Pregnant women, women	Deutscher et al. 2011a;
	with postpartum status and	Steer et al. 2016;
	neonates	Mearkle et al. 2017
	Gender - Boys and men	Lee et al. 2017; Liu et
		al. 2018
Risk factors for GAS	Household crowding	Carapetis et al. 2005;
infections		Tartof et al. 2010;
		Mearkle et al. 2017;
		Oliver et al. 2017;
		Zhang et al. 2017;
		Baker et al. 2019;
		Bennett et al. 2019
	Housing conditions -	Liu et al. 2014; Oliver et
	dampness, temperature,	al. 2017; Liu et al. 2018;
	poor ventilation	Baker et al. 2019
Hospital equipment	Beaudoin et al. 2014;	
--	---	
	Sosa 2016; Sharma et	
	al. 2019	
Neighbourhood deprivation	Bennett et al. 2019;	
	Cannon et al. 2019	
Cross infection by health	(Cohen et al. 2019;	
care workers	Sharma et al. 2019)	
Contaminated devices	Iwata & Iwase 2017;	
	Baker et al. 2019;	
	Krughoff et al. 2020	
Number of social contacts	Torres et al. 2016;	
	Baker et al. 2019	
Exposure to asymptomatic	Deutscher et al. 2011b;	
persons	Lamden 2011; Mearkle	
	et al. 2017	
Limited household	Adebanjo et al. 2018;	
resources - including those	Baker et al. 2019	
of washing, teeth cleaning		
and laundry		
Environmental tobacco	Marshall et al. 2015;	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long-	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al.	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types Exposure to biting insects	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019 Lynskey, Lawrenson &	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types Exposure to biting insects and skin injuries	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019 Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011;	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types Exposure to biting insects and skin injuries	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019 Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011; Whitehead, Smith &	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types Exposure to biting insects and skin injuries	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019 Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011; Whitehead, Smith & Nourse 2011; Baker et	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types Exposure to biting insects and skin injuries	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019 Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011; Whitehead, Smith & Nourse 2011; Baker et al. 2019	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types Exposure to biting insects and skin injuries Contaminated surrounding	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019 Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011; Whitehead, Smith & Nourse 2011; Baker et al. 2019 Cummins et al. 2012;	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types Exposure to biting insects and skin injuries Contaminated surrounding and surfaces	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019 Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011; Whitehead, Smith & Nourse 2011; Baker et al. 2019 Cummins et al. 2012; Saavedra-Campos et	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types Exposure to biting insects and skin injuries Contaminated surrounding and surfaces	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019 Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011; Whitehead, Smith & Nourse 2011; Baker et al. 2019 Cummins et al. 2012; Saavedra-Campos et al. 2017,;Mosites et al.	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types Exposure to biting insects and skin injuries Contaminated surrounding and surfaces	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019 Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011; Whitehead, Smith & Nourse 2011; Baker et al. 2019 Cummins et al. 2012; Saavedra-Campos et al. 2017,;Mosites et al. 2018; Dickinson et al.	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types Exposure to biting insects and skin injuries Contaminated surrounding and surfaces	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019 Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011; Whitehead, Smith & Nourse 2011; Baker et al. 2019 Cummins et al. 2012; Saavedra-Campos et al. 2017,;Mosites et al. 2018; Dickinson et al. 2019	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types Exposure to biting insects and skin injuries Contaminated surrounding and surfaces	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019 Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011; Whitehead, Smith & Nourse 2011; Baker et al. 2019 Cummins et al. 2012; Saavedra-Campos et al. 2017,;Mosites et al. 2018; Dickinson et al. 2019 Wu et al. 2016;	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types Exposure to biting insects and skin injuries Contaminated surrounding and surfaces Seasonal variation	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019 Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011; Whitehead, Smith & Nourse 2011; Baker et al. 2019 Cummins et al. 2012; Saavedra-Campos et al. 2017,;Mosites et al. 2018; Dickinson et al. 2019 Wu et al. 2016; Shakoor et al. 2017;	
Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and long- time exposure to severe air pollutants and mutating GAS gene types Exposure to biting insects and skin injuries Contaminated surrounding and surfaces	Marshall et al. 2015; Tagini et al. 2017, Liu et al. 2018; Baker et al. 2019 Lynskey, Lawrenson & Sriskandan 2011; Whitehead, Smith & Nourse 2011; Baker et al. 2019 Cummins et al. 2012; Saavedra-Campos et al. 2017,;Mosites et al. 2018; Dickinson et al. 2019 Wu et al. 2016; Shakoor et al. 2017; You et al. 2018; Barth	

	Poor personal and hand	Mahida et al. 2014;
	hygiene	Winter 2014; Lee et al.
		2017; Adebanjo et al.
		2018
	Co-infection with other	Hodgins et al. 2015;
	infections like influenza	You et al. 2018;
		Thielemans et al. 2020
	Inability to afford quality	Tartof et al. 2010; Allen
	health care	et al. 2011; Torres et al.
		2016
Prevention and control	Early diagnosis and	Di Pierro, et al. 2013;
measures/strategies	treatment	Lu et al. 2013;
		Hernandez & Wolk
		2015; Chalker et al.
		2016; Chen et al. 2016;
		Sosa 2016; Lee et al.
		2017; Mearkle et al.
		2017; Liu et al. 2018;
		Sharma et al. 2019;
		Vekemans et al. 2019;
		Dohoo et al. 2020
	Infection control in hospitals	Al-ajmi et al. 2012; Cho
		& Fernando 2013;
		Beaudoin et al. 2014;
		Chalker et al. 2016;
		Palladino et al. 2019;
		Sharma et al. 2019;
		Watts et al. 2019;
		Dohoo et al. 2020
	Epidemiological	Hamilton et al. 2013;
	investigations/ improved	Engelthaler et al. 2016;
	surveillance systems	May, Bowen &
		carapetis 2016; Turner
		et al. 2016; Zhang et al.
		2017; Liu et al. 2018;
		Sharma et al. 2019
	Affordable and accessible	Tartof et al. 2010; May,
	health care services	Bowen & Carapetis

	2016; Oliver et al. 2017;
	Rottenstreich et al.
	2019
Improved quality of housing	Tartof et al. 2010; May,
	Bowen & Carapetis
	2016; Steer et al. 2016
Health education for health	Shetty et al. 2014;
care providers and	Engelthaler et al. 2016;
patients/community	Mearkle et al. 2017
Screening of health care	Hamilton, Stevens &
workers, asymptomatic	Bryant 2013; Cohen et
cases and post exposure	al. 2019; Rottenstreich
prophylaxis for vulnerable	et al. 2019
groups	
Environmental sanitation	Cummins et al. 2012;
	Zhang et al. 2017
Proper handwashing	Sosa 2016; Zhang et al.
	2017
Avoid overcrowding	Shetty, Mills & Eggleton
	2014; Cannon et al.
	2019)
Reduced malnutrition and	(Seale et al. 2016;
HIV infection	Linder et al. 2017;
	Zhang et al. 2017
Improved personal hygiene	Lee, Cowling & Lau
and avoid sharing of	2017; Zhang et al. 2017
personal items	
Improved microbial	Rottenstreich et al.
detection method for GAS	2019; Sharma et al.
	2019
Supporting antisepsis	Kobayashi et al. 2016;
measures at delivery and in	May, Bowen &
neonatal cord care, and	Carapetis 2016; Seale
wound care.	et al. 2016; Hupp,
	Kallstrom & Myers
	2018; Mosites et al.
	2018

	Capacity building of health	Bura et al. 2017;
	care workers.	Mathan, Erkart &
		Houlding 2017; Mosites
		et al. 2018; Di Muzio et
		al. 2020
	Reduced movement of	Cannon et al. 2019;
	children to new areas	Francis et al. 2019
	Encourage physical activity	Liu et al. 2015; Zhang
	for children	et al. 2017
Suggested future prevention	Vaccination	Seale et al. 2016;
and control strategies		Chochua et al. 2017;
		Makthal et al. 2017
	Screening for iGAS during	Hamilton, Stevens &
	pregnancy	Bryant 2013; Shinar et
		al. 2016; Alexander et
		al. 2018

1.3 GAS in Australia

GAS affects remote and rural communities in developed countries like Australia. GAS infections are endemic in these populations (Cannon et al. 2019, p.5; Harris et al. 2011, p. 1220; Seth et al. 2016, p. 2955).

In Australia, records indicate that GAS infections and their sequalae among the Indigenous Australians continue to persist at equal or higher levels when compared with cases in developing countries (May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016, p. 201). Tropical regions of northern Queensland and the Northern Territory, the only areas that report GAS infections as notifiable diseases, have the highest reported rates. The incidence rate in Indigenous populations ranges from 23.9 cases per 100,000 population to 82.5 cases per 100,000 population and of 4.7 cases per 100,000 population to 10.3 cases per 100,000 population in non-Indigenous populations (Boyd et al. 2016, p. 1022). Additionally, the incidence of acute rheumatic fever, an invasive GAS infection, is estimated to be 194 cases per 100,000 people per year among Indigenous Australian children aged 5-14 years, which is one of the highest documented rates internationally (Francis et al. 2019, p. 288). This has been linked to the higher proportion of Indigenous people in northern Australia who experience high levels of socioeconomic disadvantage and household crowding (Boyd et al, 2016, pp. 1022-1023; May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016, p. 201-02). According to Baker et al. (2019, pp. 9-10) and Bennett

et al. (2019, p. 3), low socioeconomic status characterised by overcrowding and high social contact are key environmental factors for the transmission of the disease. GAS is most prevalent in children, the elderly, immunocompromised and pregnant women (Harris et al. 2011, p. 1221; Oliver et al. 2019a, pp. 5-6; Hamilton, Stevens, & Bryant, 2013, p. 875), however, the incidence of GAS infections peaks in childhood (Oliver et al. 2019a, pp. 3-4). Transmission occurs most in schools, care homes and hospitals (Vasant et al. 2019, pp. 1-2; Oliver et al. 2019b, pp. 6-7).

GAS infections are not nationally notifiable in Australia (Francis et al. 2019, p. 288). Moreover, there are no national Australian guidelines regarding the prevention of secondary iGAS disease. In addition, jurisdictional variation in chemoprophylaxis recommendations also exists across Australia (Oliver et al. 2019b, pp.6-8).

1.4 Prevention and control of GAS transmission

Control of this disease has been impacted by limited knowledge on its prevention and control among affected populations, mismanagement of patients due to lack of standard guidelines on GAS diseases management, and lack of targeted prevention strategies due to limited epidemiological data, among other factors, as seen in the systematic review (Baker et al. 2019, p. 8; May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016, p. 203).

To reduce and prevent transmission at community level, proper hand hygiene, proper infection control practices, effective cleaning of high touch surfaces, coupled with reduced overcrowding among other intervention measures should be adhered to (Zhang et al. 2017, p. 4; Inkster et al. 2012, p. 42; Dooling et al. 2013, p. 1565; Mahida et al. 2014, p. 144; Sarangi & Rowsell 1995, pp. 163-64).

Hand hygiene, when effectively used, can reduce disease transmission leading to reduced morbidity and mortality rates (Sickbert-Bennett et al. 2016, pp. 1629-30; Aiello et al. 2008, pp. 1378-79; Pittet 2005, p. 185). According to Ostrowsky and Rosenthal (2018, pp. 1, 3), hand washing is one of the most important and effective measures that can be used to control *S. pyogenes* infections. Hand hygiene can be achieved by either proper hand washing with soap and safe running water or by the use of hand sanitisers (Katz 2004, p. 460).

Ideally, hand washing with soap and water should not be substituted with the use of hand sanitisers since hand washing is able to remove soil, dirt, chemicals and grease that cannot be removed by hand rubs (Bjerke 2004, p. 296, CDC 2020b; Todd et al. 2010, p. 2137), moreover, the presence of dirt, chemicals and grease influences the effectiveness of hand sanitisers (Simonne 2005, p. 2). Additionally, hand sanitisers should not be used where there is a high infection situation or when washing is convenient, however, according to the World Health Organization (2020) there is poor compliance to basic hand washing with soap and water. This compliance rate among health care

workers does not exceed 40%. The WHO therefore recommends the use of hand sanitisers, whose compliance rate is higher than that of hand washing. Hand sanitisers have also been recommended particularly in situations where people are out and about and cannot access hand washing facilities. Hand sanitisers are safe and effective when properly used. Alcoholic compounds used as hand sanitisers kill twice the number of microorganisms compared with those removed with medicated soap in 30 seconds (Widmer 2000, p. 139). The use of hand sanitisers is therefore effective, economical and saves time when compared with normal handwashing.

This research aimed to determine the effectiveness of hand sanitisers available in a local supermarket in the destruction of GAS. The findings of this project will help public and environmental health practitioners give informed advice to patients, communities and health care workers on effective GAS prevention using hand hygiene, specifically by use of hand sanitisers. Communities will also be able to make informed decisions on which hand hygiene method they can suitably use in preventing the spread of GAS infections and other respiratory infections spread through respiratory droplets, ingestion and contact with infected persons.

1.5 Research questions, aims and objectives

1.5.1 Research questions

- Who is at most risk of getting group A Streptococcus infections?
- What are the risk factors associated with Group A Streptococcus transmission?
- How are Group A Streptococcus infections prevented and controlled?
- How effective are some of the available hand sanitisers in destruction of Group A Streptococcus?

1.5.2 Aims

To better understand Group A *Streptococcus* bacterium, its transmission risk factors and potential control strategies.

1.5.3 Objectives

To review literature on Group A *Streptococcus* using a systematic review method to determine the transmission, at risk groups, common areas of transmission risk factors for transmission and available prevention and control strategies for GAS infections.

To carry out laboratory analysis of hand sanitisers available in the market to determine their effectiveness in the destruction of Group A *Streptococcus* bacteria.

In summary, this chapter highlighted that GAS, or S. pyogenes, is a gram-positive non-motile and non-spore forming bacteria majorly transmitted by respiratory droplets. However, it can also be transmitted by contact with infected skins sores and contaminated food and equipment. GAS infects 18.1 million people worldwide and results in 500,000 deaths each year. In Australia, the incidence of these infections is high in Indigenous populations. These infections are prevalent in low socioeconomic areas, and children, the immunocompromised, and the elderly are at greatest risk of getting infected. High social contact and overcrowding are some of the major risk factors for the infections. The prevention and control measures for GAS infections currently in place put emphasis on clinical management rather than public and environmental health control. In order to ensure prevention and control is achieved, governments should consider making GAS infections notifiable nationally to inform public health and research initiatives. Stakeholders should also emphasise prevention and control of GAS infections using public and environmental health strategies. This includes ensuring communities and health care workers educate others and adhere to infection prevention and control practices. One of the infection control practices includes hand hygiene techniques. Hand hygiene can be achieved by hand washing with soap or by use of hand sanitisers. This study therefore aimed to review literature on GAS and determine the effectiveness of locally available hand sanitisers in the destruction of GAS bacteria using laboratory culture method.

The next chapter discusses the materials and methods used in this study in the laboratory. The materials and methods for the literature review are discussed earlier in this chapter, specifically, in 1.2.1.3.

2.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

This chapter presents the sample collection procedures, including biosafety information and details of the samples collected for testing. It also discusses the culturing techniques used and describes the positive and negative controls for the study. The culturing methodology, which includes determination of bacterial growth, sample testing, determination of the limit of detection and minimisation of potential culture inhibitors of the study is also presented. The purpose of this study was to determine the effectiveness of locally available hand sanitisers in the destruction of GAS bacteria by assessing them in the laboratory using a standardised test approach.

2.1 Sample collection

2.1.1 Biosafety information

Permission was sought from Flinders University Institution Biosafety Committee (IBC) to work with *S. pyogenes* which is a PC2 (Physical Containment Level 2) microorganism. This is because *S. pyogenes* is transmissible by the respiratory route (WHO 2005; Zhang et al. 2017, p. 1) and working with it is a significant risk to humans (Kimman, Smit & Klein 2008, p. 409). Since the study was part of ongoing work in the Environmental Health laboratories, it was undertaken under an approval notice granted on 18th June 2020, (Approval number 2020-19) as seen in Appendix A2. Training on the recommended approach on handling PC2 microorganisms was also undertaken (Appendix A1).

2.1.2 Sample collection

Samples to be tested were obtained from a local supermarket in August 2020. This is one of the sampling techniques used in sample collection (Marshall 1996, p. 522). A total of five samples were obtained. Four samples were hand sanitisers, and one sample was a dish washing liquid that was used as a comparison sample. The details of the samples collected are as follows:

Sample 1: Name: Uniquely Natural Hand Sanitising Gel, 125 mL (made by Uniquely Natural, Unit 2-3/20 Ellemsea Circuit, Lonsdale, South Australia)

Ingredients; Alcohol Denat (alcohol denatured), purified water, hydroxypropyl guar and citric acid Batch number and expiry date not indicated on the product



Figure 2. 1: Sample 1 hand sanitiser (Uniquely Natural Hand Sanitising Gel)

Sample 2: Name: Travel Hand sanitizer, 50 mL (Made in China, Distributed by PJ SAS Trading Pty Ltd, 70A Orange Grove Road, Liverpool, NSW 2170, Sydney, Australia; Phone (02)96025444 Ingredients: Alcohol, aqua, carbomer, DMDM hydantoin, triethanolamine Batch number. MN0315 Expiry date: 15/03/2020



Figure 2. 2: Sample 2 hand sanitiser (Travel Hand sanitizer)

Sample 3: Dettol, 50 mL (Made in Thailand, Reckitt Bencksler, Sydney, NSW, Australia, Auckland New Zealand; Phone Aust: 1800022046; NZ 0800403030)

Ingredients: Alcohol Denat (alcohol denatured), water, PEG/PPG-17/6 copolymer, propylene glycol, acrylates/C10-30 Alkyl acrylate cross polymer, tetrahydroxy propyl ethylenediamine, fragrance and limonene

Batch number. EB90 080520

Expiry date: 800522



Figure 2. 3: Sample 3 hand sanitiser (Dettol®)

Sample 4: ZC Hand Sanitizer Gel, 50 mL (Manufacturer not indicated) Ingredients: Ethyl alcohol 75% Batch number. Not indicated Expiry date: 2023-03



Figure 2. 4: Sample 4 hand sanitiser (ZC Hand sanitizer gel)

Comparison sample: Ultra Palmolive dish washing liquid, 400 mL (Made in Australia, Colgate-Palmolive Pty Ltd 345 George Street, Sydney, 2000) Ingredients: anionic and non-ionic surfactants Batch number: 0043AU Expiry date:2020-11



Figure 2. 5: Dish washing liquid (Ultra Palmolive dish washing liquid)

2.2 Microbiological culture of samples

A stock sample of *S. pyogenes* was obtained from the Biology Department at Flinders University and was used to make the working culture used in the study.

2.2.1 Negative controls

Sterile water plus the hand sanitiser minus the *S. pyogenes* was cultured and incubated on Todd-Hewitt broth (THB) plus bacteriological agar (BA) as per the manufacturer's instructions (Oxoid Australia 2020a; Oxoid Australia 2020b).

2.2.2 Positive controls

S. pyogenes and sterile water minus the sanitisers was cultured and incubated as per the manufacturer's instructions (Oxoid Australia 2020a).

2.2.3 Culture methodology

All procedures were carried out using existing bacteriological culture methods (Gera & McIver 2013, pp. 1-2). In each test, a positive control, a negative control and the sample being tested were undertaken in triplicate.

2.2.3.1 Bacterial growth and viable cell count analysis

Growth rate for *S. pyogenes* was determined by estimating the number of bacteria in a culture grown at 37°C. Single *S. pyogenes* colonies from the working culture were grown overnight in 100 mL THB broth at 37°C. This was done in triplicate. The turbidity of the culture was determined by measuring

the optical density at 600 nm (OD_{600}) every 2 hours for 14 hours using the Shimadzu UV-1800 UV spectrophotometer. Maximum growth was achieved at 14 hours. One mL of the culture was put into cuvettes (40 x 4 x 45) mm and measured using the spectrophotometer to determine the optical density expressed as Absorbance Units (AU) (Oxoid Australia 2020a; Gera & McIver 2013, p. 3).

Growth curves were constructed by plotting the OD_{600} values against time. Data were expressed as the mean and standard deviation from the three independent experiments (Roobthaisong et al. 2017, p.3/22).

To calculate the number of colony forming units (CFU/mL) at a given time, the turbidity of the culture was adjusted to 0.4 AU. To adjust turbidity, the culture was centrifuged at 4,000 rpm (revolutions per minute) for five minutes. The supernatant was then discarded. Sterile water was added, and the cells resuspended again in the centrifuge until a sample of 0.4 AU was achieved. One millilitre of the neat sample was serially diluted by a factor of 10⁻¹ to 10⁻¹⁰. One hundred microlitres from each tube was plated onto sterile culture plates with THB/BA. Plating was done in triplicate for each dilution made. The plates were incubated for 24 hours after which the colonies were counted manually.

All agars and broths used were autoclaved at 121°C for 15 minutes. They were then allowed to cool by placing in a water bath at 50°C for 10-15 minutes before use (CABRI Consortium 2013).

2.2.3.2 Testing efficiency of the sanitiser

Sanitisers were tested according to the "BS EN 1276:2009 Chemical disinfectants and antiseptics -Quantitative suspension test for the evaluation of bactericidal activity of chemical disinfectants and antiseptics used in food, industrial, domestic and institutional areas" standards, with a number of changes. In summary, 1 mL of the (0.4 AU at OD_{600}) sample of *S. pyogenes* cells was added to 9 mL of hand sanitiser sample and mixed gently for 30 seconds. Contact time of 30-60 seconds for the sanitiser and cells was allowed as per the standards (BS EN 1276:2019). One hundred microlitres of the mixture were plated on THB/BA and spread evenly using a sterile spreader (Sanders 2012, p. 4). The same procedure was repeated with 10 μ L of the mixture. The plates were sealed with parafilm® to prevent air and contaminants from getting onto them during incubation. The plates were then incubated for 20-24 hours at 37°C. Colonies were counted after incubation.

2.2.4 Limit of detection

To determine the limit of detection, a set of serial dilutions of the culture sample was run. The initial concentration after culture was 0.98 AU. This was adjusted to 0.4 AU and 10 x 1:10 serial dilutions performed. The density of bacteria in the dilutions was determined by plating 100 μ L of each dilution and plates with 30-300 colonies considered for counting (Matthews, Kniel & Montville 2017, p. 74). This count was expressed as CFU per mL to estimate the number of bacteria in the initial suspension.

This allowed for the limit of detection of *S. pyogenes* concentration in the broth culture to be determined.

2.2.5 Maximising cell growth and detection

To maximise detection of *S. pyogenes*, the recommended culture media (THB), which is suitable for the growth of *S. pyogenes*, anaerobic conditions and incubation temperature of 37°C were maintained (Spellerberg & Brandt 2016, p. 2). This also minimised any potential inhibitors.

In summary, this chapter highlighted how biosafety clearance for the study was sought from Flinders University Biosafety Committee and biosafety training was undertaken, as presented in Appendix A1 and A2. Five samples were used in the study; four hand sanitisers and one dishwashing liquid, were purchased from a local supermarket. A stock sample of *S. pyogenes* for the study was obtained from the Biology Department at Flinders University and working samples prepared at the Environmental Health laboratory of the same institution. Broth cultures were then prepared from working samples and the effectiveness of the purchased samples on GAS destruction was tested using the prepared cultured broth as per the standards (BS EN 1276:2019).

The next chapter discusses the results of the experimental work undertaken.

3.0 RESULTS

This chapter presents the results of the tests undertaken on the hand sanitisers and dishwashing liquid, including how the growth curve of *S. pyogenes* was determined. The results showing the effectiveness on the destruction of GAS bacteria are also presented.

3.1 Growth curve determination

After the broth cultures were incubated, the readings of the OD ₆₀₀ were taken and recorded as shown in Table 3.1. A growth curve was then drawn to determine the time when the *S. pyogenes* cells growth rate was highest and when there was minimum or no growth.

Table 3. 1: Optical density of S. pyogenes cells against time during incubation of broth culture

Time	Optical density at 600nm (OD 600) expressed in Absorbance units (AU)				
(hours)	Culture 1	Culture 2	Culture 3	Mean	Standard deviation
0	0	0	0.0001	0.00003	0.00000577
2	0.005	0.004	0.005	0.005	0.00057735
4	0.08	0.01	0.072	0.054	0.03831449
6	0.39	0.199	0.394	0.326	0.11144655
8	0.815	0.446	0.73	0.664	0.19323647
10	1.018	0.887	0.988	0.964	0.06863187
12	0.962	0.956	0.918	0.945	0.02386071
14	0.99	0.969	0.982	0.980	0.01059874

The highest growth rate was achieved after 7 hours of incubation with an optical density of approximately 0.5 AU as seen in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3. 1: Optical density at 600nm for the growth of S. pyogenes cells over time



Figure 3. 2: Broth cultures before incubation (a) and after incubation (b). Colour change is seen in volumetric flasks labelled S1, S2 and S3. There is no observable change in the control broth

(b)

(a)

3.2 Positive controls



Figure 3. 3: Serial dilutions of *S. pyogenes* cells from 10⁻¹ to 10⁻¹⁰

Growth of *S. pyogenes* cells from the dilutions was done in triplicate. After 24 hours of incubation, *S pyogenes* colonies were on the plate cultures of the initial sample and those serially diluted up to 10⁻⁶. No growth was present on plates cultured from the *S. pyogenes* cells serially diluted at 10⁻⁷ to 10^{-10.}

The results of the cultures S. pyogenes cells after serial dilution are summarised in Table 3.2.

Dilution	No. of colonies present	Concentration
	on the plate (100 μL)	(cells/mL)
10 ⁰	TNTC (Too numerous to	-
	count)	
10-1	TNTC	-
10 ⁻²	TNTC	-
10 ⁻³	TNTC	-
10-4	284	2.84 x 10 ⁷
10 ⁻⁵	33.67	3.4 x 10 ⁷
10 ⁻⁶	<30	-

Table 3. 2: Number of colonies present on the plates with THB/BA after incubation for 24 hours

10-7	0	0
10 ⁻⁸	0	0
10 ⁻⁹	0	0
10 ⁻¹⁰	0	0

Note: The number of colonies is the mean and standard deviations of the total colonies counted from the three plates incubated for each dilution. Only plates with 30-300 colonies were counted. Counts outside this range were excluded because they may give erroneous indications of the actual bacterial composition of the sample. Plates with more than 300 colonies were recorded as TNTC (Too Numerous to Count) (Maturin & Peeler 2001, p. 2; O'Toole 2016, p. 3127).

After counting the colonies, the S. *pyogenes* cell concentration used for this study was 3.4×10^7 CFU/mL.



Figure 3. 4: S. pyogenes colonies grown on THB/BA drawn from mixture diluted at 10⁻⁵

3.3 Negative controls

No growth was seen on the cultured plates.

3.4 Hand sanitiser tests

Log reduction conveys how effective a product is in reducing pathogens. The greater log reduction, the more effective the product is at killing disease-causing pathogens (BS EN 1276:2019). The log

reduction calculations were done based on the "Log and Percent Reductions in Microbiology and Antimicrobial Testing 2015" formula below.

log reduction = log $_{10}$ (A÷B)

Or

log reduction = log $_{10}$ (A) – log $_{10}$ (B)

Where:

A = Number of viable microorganisms before treatment

B = Number of viable microorganisms after treatment

To determine percentage reduction;

Percent reduction = $(A - B) \times 100$ A

The log reductions for the different samples tested in this study were as follows:

Sample 1 – No growth was seen on the incubated plates with the test mixture. This means that the number of viable microorganisms after treatment was zero (0 CFU/mL). The sample's log reduction was 7 log (log 7).

Sample 2 – The plate had TNTC number of colonies after treatment and incubation. Serial dilutions were further undertaken to determine the exact log reduction of the hand sanitiser.

Table 3. 3: The number of colonies on culture plates after serial dilutions of the mixture of sample 2hand sanitiser and S. pyogenes cells

Dilutions of sample 2 (hand sanitiser)	Concentration
and <i>S. pyogenes</i> cells	(cells/mL)
10 ⁰	TNTC
10 ⁻¹	TNTC
10 ⁻²	TNTC
10 ⁻³	145
10 ⁻⁴	12
10 ⁻⁵	1
10 ⁻⁶	0
10 ⁻⁷	0

10 ⁻⁸	0
10 ⁻⁹	0
10 ⁻¹⁰	0

After serial dilution and incubation of the mixture of hand sanitiser and *S. pyogenes* cells, a log reduction of log 1 was found. Similarity of colony distribution was seen between culture plates of positive controls diluted at 10⁻⁴ and hand sanitiser and cells mixture culture plates diluted at 10⁻³. These findings were calculated as shown below.

log reduction = log $_{10}$ (A) – log $_{10}$ (B)

log 10 (2.84 x 10⁷) –log 10 (1. 46 x 10⁶) CFU/mL

1.38 x 101 CFU/mL



Figure 3. 5: Distribution of colonies in positive controls (10⁻⁴) and sample 2 test (10⁻³)

Sample 3 and 4: After treatment and incubation of the test mixture, no growth was seen on the incubated plates. The samples recorded a log reduction of 7 log.

In the comparison sample no growth was seen on the incubated plates with the test mixture. The expected log reduction for this sample was \geq 3 log (hand washes) as per the standards used. The sample's log reduction was 7 log.

Table 3. 4: Expected log reduction, log reduction and percentage reduction achieved by the testedsamples (BS EN 1276:2019; Log and Percent Reductions in Microbiology and Antimicrobial Testing:2015).

Sample	Expected log reduction	Log reduction	Percentage	
	(log)	achieved (log)	reduction	
Hand sanitisers				
1	≥ 5	7	99.99999%	
2	≥ 5	1	90%	
3	≥ 5	7	99.99999%	
4	≥ 5	7	99.99999%	
Comparison sample – Dish washing liquid				
1	≥ 3 (hand washes)	7	99.99999%	

In summary, the highest growth rate of *S. pyogenes* was achieved at 7 hours after incubation. The turbidity of the cells at this time was approximately 0.5 AU. Maximum growth was achieved at 14 hours after incubation and the turbidity was 0.98 AU. This turbidity was later adjusted to 0.4 AU as required by the standards (BS EN 1276:2019), serially diluted and 100 μ L incubated on culture plates to determine the cell concentration for the study, which was found to be 3.4 x 10⁷ CFU/mL. Three out of four hand sanitisers caused a log reduction of log 7 on the test organism, *S. pyogenes*. The other hand sanitiser caused a log reduction of log 1. The dishwashing liquid which was the comparison sample also recorded a log reduction of log 7.

The next chapter discusses hand sanitisers and the results of this study in detail.

4.0 DISCUSSION

This chapter presents basic information about hand sanitisers, and the factors that affect their effectiveness in the destruction of microorganisms. It also compares alcohol-free and alcohol-based hand sanitisers, presenting their advantages and limitations. General limitations of using hand sanitisers are also discussed. The chapter concludes by highlighting the general limitations of the entire study.

In Australia, GAS infections are endemic in remote and rural communities which are mostly inhabited by Indigenous Australians (May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016, p. 201). These communities are characterised by overcrowding, high social contact and poor personal and hand hygiene, factors that favour the transmission of these infections (Boyd et al, 2016, pp. 1022-23; May, Bowen & Carapetis 2016, p. 201-02). This is discussed in detail in the systematic review above carried out for this study (Chapter 1.3).

In order to prevent and control the spread of GAS infections, several prevention and control measures including hand hygiene can be put in place as discussed earlier (Chapter 1.2.1.5). Community engagement is key to successful implementation of hand hygiene programs. Behavioural change aimed at promoting good hand hygiene practices should be encouraged and strengthened (Jumaa 2005, p. 10; Francis et al. 2019, p. 292). People need to be educated and informed about proper hand washing and proper application of hand sanitisers in order to achieve standard hand hygiene (Greenaway et al. 2018, p. 200-01). In a study carried out by Babeluk et al. (2014, pp. 4-5) on healthy volunteers in a community setting, there was reduced bacterial load on the hands of the volunteers after education in the correct use of hand rubs. This demonstrates the value of education in improving hand hygiene.

This study explored the effectiveness of the use of hand sanitisers, a hand hygiene method used in the control and prevention of GAS transmission. Hand sanitisers were purchased and tested in the laboratory to determine their effectiveness in the destruction of *S. pyogenes* bacteria as discussed in the methodology of this study (Chapter 2.0).

4.1 Prevention and control of GAS transmission using hand sanitisers

Hand sanitisers, also called hand antiseptic, or hand rubs, are foam, gel, cream, spray, wipes or liquid agents applied to the hands for the purpose of removing disease-causing organisms (Todd et al. 2010, p. 2130; WHO 2006, p. 9). Hand sanitisers are classified as either alcohol–based or alcohol-free depending on the active ingredient used. Alcohol-based products contain between 60 and 95 percent alcohol, usually in the form of ethanol, isopropanol or *n*-propanol while alcohol-

free sanitiser makes use of chemicals like quaternary ammonium and benzalkonium chloride which have antiseptic properties (Gold & Avva 2018; Jain et al. 2016, p. 429; Jing et al. 2020, p. 3). The alcohol and chemicals are important in ensuring the effectiveness of hand sanitisers in killing microorganisms.

Hand sanitisers were first used in the 1980s (Block 2001, p 21; Todd et al. 2010, p. 2129). Nowadays hand sanitisers are preferred in many circumstances because they are easy to use, can be placed at any point in a room and do not require complicated plumbing systems to manage waste like the handwashing facilities. Moreover, they have a wide antimicrobial spectrum, act rapidly, spread easily without friction which damages skin and as they evaporate rapidly they don't need drying facilities (Jumaa 2005, p.6; Widmer 2000, p. 141-42). Additionally, the hand washing process consumes more time compared to the hand sanitiser process. Handwashing takes almost double (40-60 secs) the time used to carry out hand hygiene using hand rub (20-30 secs) (WHO 2009a). According to the World Health Organization (2020), poor compliance to basic hand washing with soap and water still exists. The WHO therefore recommends the use of hand sanitisers whose compliance rate is higher than that of hand washing.

According to the findings of a study carried out by Larson et al. (2005, p. 382), compliance to hand hygiene by use of hand sanitisers among health care workers in an intensive care unit was high compared to normal hand washing. Despite the high compliance, it is important to note that hand sanitisers do not remove soil, dirt, blood, chemicals and grease, they are also less effective where the microbial load is very high (Bjerke 2004, p.296, CDC 2020b; Todd et al. 2010, p. 2137). In such situations, use of both hand hygiene methods is recommended.

Hand sanitisers work by destroying pathogens through breaking apart their cells and proteins from the inside therefore reducing their viability (Simonne 2005, p. 3; Golin, Choi & Ghahary 2020, p. 1064). Their effectiveness depends on several factors. These factors include but are not limited to, the ingredients, quantity applied, frequency of use, duration of exposure, and the susceptibility of the microorganisms present on the hand to the hand sanitiser (Liu et al. 2010a, p. 398; Suchomel et al. 2012, p. 331; Jing et al. 2020, p.17). For maximum anti-microbial effect to be achieved, sufficient quantities (2.5-3 mL or half a teaspoon) of hand sanitiser should be applied to the hands (Jing et al 2020, p. 7; Gold & Avva 2018). The application process should also be as per the recommended steps identified by WHO. The WHO (2009a) recommends eight steps to effective hand sanitiser application: application of the product in a cupped hand, equivalent to volumes described above, sufficient to cover all hand surfaces. This is followed by rubbing hands palm to palm and right palm over left dorsum with interlaced fingers and vice versa. The next step involves rubbing palm to palm with fingers interlaced then rubbing backs of

46

fingers to opposing palms with fingers interlocked. Rotational rubbing of left thumb clasped in right palm and vice versa is then done. Lastly, rotational rubbing, backwards and forwards with clasped fingers of right hand in left palm and vice versa is done. Once dry, the hands are safe. The entire process should take 20-30 seconds.

4.1.1 Alcohol-based versus alcohol-free hand sanitisers

Both alcohol-based and alcohol-free hand sanitisers provide the same protection against microorganisms. For alcohol-free hand sanitisers, enough quantities of the recommended chemical are required for them to be effective. Alcohol-free hand sanitisers are non-flammable and therefore ideal for use in most settings including places with high risk of fire, like hotels (Jing et al. 2020, p. 3). The low concentrations of benzalkonium, the most important ingredient of alcohol-free hand sanitisers, also make them less toxic and therefore ideal for all population groups including young children and the very elderly (Jing et al. 2020, p.3). These products have also been found to provide continued protection after the solution has dried up unlike the alcohol-based ones whose antimicrobial effect ends once the product has dried up (Gold & Avva 2018). Due to the fact that they contain no alcohol, they can be used across all communities including communities where religion restricts the use of alcohol or alcohol-based products (WHO 2009b), however, alcohol-free hand sanitisers are not widely used since they are costly compared with alcohol-based ones (Gold & Avva 2018).

Alcohol-based sanitisers on the other hand are commonly used simply because they are cost effective and easily available (Larson et al. 2005, p. 382). Alcohols have a wide antimicrobial spectrum including gram-positive bacteria, gram-negative bacteria, mycobacteria, fungi and some enveloped viruses, but poor activity against bacterial spores, oocysts and some non-enveloped viruses (Jing et al 2020, p. 3; Golin, Choi & Ghahary 2020, p. 1064). Hand hygiene with the use of hand sanitisers can therefore be recommended for use in the control of GAS infections in different communities since GAS is susceptible to alcohol.

Alcohol content in alcohol-based hand sanitisers also determines the antimicrobial effect of those products. According to Gold and Avva (2018), hand sanitisers with an alcohol content less than 60% are ineffective in killing microorganisms because they contain high water content which favours microbial growth and survival. Additionally, hand sanitisers with an alcohol content higher than 95% are equally ineffective because they don't contain water which is essential in the protein denaturing process. Alcohol-based hand sanitisers are also self-drying unlike alcohol-free hand sanitisers which do not dry on hands as effectively as alcohol-based ones. They can also be easily made or manufactured compared with alcohol-free ones (WHO 2020, pp. 1-9), nevertheless, they are highly flammable due to the high level of alcohol in them and therefore

pose a risk of fire. They are also toxic when ingested and can be easily misused by people with alcohol dependence trying to seek the desired effect (Archer et al. 2007, pp. 1154-55; WHO 2009b). According to WHO (2009b), use of alcohol-based hand sanitisers is prohibited by some religions and there can therefore be challenges in implementing their use in some communities.

Generally, use of hand sanitisers requires less time than hand washing (WHO 2009a, Larson et al. 2005, p. 382). Hand sanitisers are also gentler on skin and cause less skin irritation and dryness than frequent soap and water washes (Larson et al. 2005, p. 381; Babeluk et al. 2014, pp. 4). Moreover, they act quickly to kill microorganisms on hands. Hand sanitisers are also more accessible than sinks, and are portable, hence have been recommended for use in enclosed group settings like classrooms, staff rooms, and offices (Jumaa 2005, p. 6; Widmer 2000, p. 141-42). This promotes periodic hand hygiene with minimal movement therefore improving performance in such settings. Studies show that adequate hand hygiene can actually reduce child absenteeism from school due to a variety of infections (Willmott et al. 2016, p. 48). A study conducted by Prazuck et al. (2010, p. 997) on the relationship of compliance of primary school children to hand hygiene and absenteeism of children from school due to gastroenteritis, showed a reduction of absenteeism when hand sanitisers were used effectively. Working days lost by parents due to caring for sick children were also reduced.

4.1.2 Effectiveness of tested hand sanitiser samples and comparison sample

The process of testing hand sanitiser began by preparation of broth cultures to be used for the entire study as discussed in the methodology (Chapter 2.2.3.1). Maximum growth rate for *S. pyogenes* occurs between 14-20 hours depending on the incubation conditions (Gera & McIver 2013, p. 12; Savic & McShan 2012, p. 1429). It took 14 hours for maximum growth to be achieved in the liquid cultures in this study, a time limit within the findings of other studies. The cell concentration in the broth was then adjusted from 0.980 AU to 0.4 AU as required by the standards (BS EN 1276:2019). Sanitisers were then applied to the *S. pyogenes* cells and each culture done in triplicate. Positive and negative controls were included in the study as discussed in the methodology.

Agar plates were prepared by pouring 10-15 mL of autoclaved agar (THB/BA) on the plates and allowed to set (Sanders 2012, p. 4). The temperature of the agar was maintained at 50-70°C prior to pouring (Maturin & Peeler 2001, p. 6; Sanders 2012, p. 4).

Aseptic techniques during the entire process must be adhered to for experimental success to be achieved (Garcia 2010; Gera & McIver 2013, p. 3). Aseptic techniques applied during this study

included working close to a lit bunsen burner, sterilisation of working tops with 70% alcohol before use and sterilisation of equipment before use. Moreover, the agar plates were kept closed whenever possible and the spreader and other equipment that comes into contact with cultures or media were effectively sterilised. Breathing on the plates was also avoided since breath can also be a source of contamination during plating.

For maximum growth to be achieved, the lids of the plates were sealed using parafilm® to prevent release of CO₂ during growth and protect the plates from any external contamination. Sealing the plates can also allow the culture to be placed in a non-CO₂ or ambient air incubator (Gera & McIver 2013, p. 3).

Test conditions for efficiency of hand sanitisers against *S. pyogenes* were also adhered to as required by the standards (BS EN 1276: 2019). They included maintaining contact time of 30-60 seconds and incubation temperature of 37° C. Effectiveness of the tested samples was then expressed in terms of log reduction. Log reduction is the effectiveness of a disinfectant, hand sanitiser or hand washes in reducing the pathogens (Ochwoto et al. 2017, p. 2). This is a mathematical term that is used to express the relative number of living microbes that are eliminated by disinfection or sanitisation. Log reduction stands for a 10-fold (one decimal) or 90% reduction in numbers of live bacteria. When testing the effectiveness of hand sanitisers, a log reduction of 1 is low and therefore shows that the hand sanitiser's antimicrobial effect is equally low. The higher the log reduction, the more effective the hand sanitiser's antimicrobial effect. The standards require log reduction for hand rubs to be $\geq 5 \log$ (BS EN 1276:2019).

The results of this study showed that three out of four samples of hand sanitiser tested recorded a log reduction of log 7. This means they met the required minimum requirements of an effective hand sanitiser and are therefore fit for use in the control of GAS transmission due to their effectiveness in the destruction of these bacteria. The other sample recorded a log reduction of log 1. This is below the required minimum requirement of ≥ 5 log reduction stated in the standards which means that the hand sanitiser is ineffective in killing GAS bacteria and is therefore not suitable for use in the control of GAS transmission.

From the results of this study, it is evident that most (75%) of the sample hand sanitisers tested and available in the market are effective in reducing *S. pyogenes* and could be recommended for use as a preventive measure for transmission of diseases associated with the bacteria. However, since the study involved very few samples, testing of more samples needs to be done to quantify this finding. Results of the dishwashing liquid, the comparison sample, also showed a log reduction of log 7. Dish washing liquids are not disinfectants and have no specified standards for testing their efficiency against microbial reduction (Holah & Hall 2006, p. 533), however, most researchers compare their effectiveness with that of other hand washes when determining their log reduction rate. In this study, the log reduction of this sample was compared against that of hand washes. The standards BS EN 1276:2019 require a minimum log reduction ≥ 3 log for these kinds of products. The results of the dish washing sample tested showed that the dishwashing liquid was effective in killing *S. pyogenes*, this therefore means that some dish washing liquids or hand washes could be recommended for use in the prevention of GAS transmission. Again, since the study was done on a small scale more testing needs to be done to quantify these results.

4.1.3 Limitations of using hand sanitisers for hand hygiene

The use of hand sanitisers also has its own limitations. Some brands of hand sanitisers are not made as per the recommended standards and sometimes do not live up to their marketing claims (Jain et al. 2016, p. 425). In this study, sample 2 failed the test despite being marketed as being able to kill 99.9% germs. Registering a log reduction of log 1, which is equivalent to 90% microbial reduction rate, is in contradiction with the marketing claims of the 99.9% microbial reduction rate written on the product. The brand however did not state the alcohol content in the ingredients which made it difficult to conclude whether it was the alcohol content level that contributed to ineffectiveness or other factors, since GAS seems to be susceptible to alcohol as seen from the results of other sanitisers tested in this study and the available literature.

Hand sanitisers are also costly compared with detergents and other hand washes (Suchomel et al. 2012, p. 329) meaning they can only be afforded by individuals or communities that are more affluent. This cost implication can also lead to economical use of the hand sanitisers, which ends up compromising their effectiveness (Suchomel et al. 2012, p. 331; Osei-Asare et al. 2020, pp. 1,6).

Since the study showed effectiveness of detergents in destruction of GAS bacteria, their use in hand hygiene targeting reduced transmission of GAS can be recommended. Detergents are often affordable, cheaper than hand sanitisers, easy to use and have both immediate and sustained activity on microorganisms compared with hand sanitisers which only have immediate activity on microorganisms (Jain et al. 2016, p. 429; Gold & Avva 2018).

50

4.1.4 Limitations of the study

A small sample size was used in this study. Four samples of hand sanitiser and one comparison sample only were tested due to time constraints. Further studies are therefore recommended to explore the findings of this study in greater depth.

The study was also carried out with the assumption that the test was done on clean hands with *S. pyogenes* bacteria only. Interfering substances and the neutralisation of residual microbial activity, steps in mimicking ideal situations in the laboratory (BS EN 1276: 2019) were not done. In most situations, hands carry more than one type of microorganism, and dirt, depending on different environments. When these elements are factored in the results of the effectiveness of the samples could be a different.

In summary, hand sanitisers are foam, gel, cream, spray, wipes or liquid agents applied to the hands for the purpose of removing disease-causing organisms and are classified as either alcohol free or alcohol based. They are preferentially used due to the high compliance rates by users, portability, less time consuming and less cost involved in installation. Their effectiveness depends on factors like the ingredients used in their manufacture, quantity applied, frequency of use, duration of exposure, and the susceptibility of the microorganisms present on the hand to the hand sanitiser. Both types of hand sanitiser offer the same protection to users however alcohol-based hand sanitisers are preferred since they are cheap, easily available locally and easy and cheap to manufacture. Although alcohol-free ones are costly, they are preferred in settings susceptible to fires and also best for use by children due to their low toxicity levels. From the results of this study, alcohol-based hand sanitisers (3 samples) were seen to be effective in destruction of GAS bacteria except for one which was ineffective. The comparison sample also showed effectiveness in GAS destruction. Hand sanitisers could therefore be recommended for use against transmission of GAS bacteria, however, more studies need to be undertaken to quantify this. Putting in mind that hand sanitisers can be costly and some brands fail to meet their marketing standards, as seen by the sample that was ineffective in this study, advocacy for their use should be carefully done in low socioeconomic settings where GAS infections are more prevalent.

The next chapter presents a conclusion to this study and suggestions for future work.

5.0 CONCLUSION

Hand hygiene programs are the most important infection control measure in enclosed group settings and other social places and have potentially large public health and economic implications. The design, implementation and analysis of these programs should be carried out with care and commitment. The microbial numbers on hands, even if they appear clean, cannot be improved if hand hygiene is performed incorrectly, or with an ineffective product. Hand sanitisers are not cleaning agents and are not meant to be a replacement for soap and water, but used as a complementary habit. Hand sanitisers are most effective when used in conjunction with diligent handwashing.

The results of this study demonstrate that hand sanitisers can be used to prevent GAS transmission at the community level. However, hand washing with soap and water remains the best option since it is safe, affordable and can clean soiled hands which is particularly important with children. Normally, the hands of children, who are highly susceptible to GAS infections, are soiled due to their high physical activity. Hands of the homeless population, which is also a group at most risk of getting GAS infections, also fall into this category. Therefore, hand washing is the best hand hygiene technique. Additionally, since these infections are highly prevalent in communities of low socioeconomic status, use of hand sanitisers may face challenges with proper use due to the economic cost involved and the ineffectiveness of some brands against killing GAS bacteria.

5.1 Future work

Hand sanitisers, when effectively used, have been seen to reduce disease transmission and to lower morbidity and mortality rates. The results of this study show that most hand sanitisers are effective in killing GAS pathogens and are therefore suitable for preventing transmission. However, conclusive recommendations cannot be made from the results of this study since the sample size of hand sanitisers tested was very small. Testing a wider variety of hand sanitisers needs to be done to conclusively recommend this hand hygiene technique.

Some hand sanitisers in the market do not live up to their marketing claims. As seen in this study, one sample tested failed to effectively kill *S. pyogenes* cells even though it was on the market, marketed as effective in microbial destruction and being used by consumers. This therefore demonstrates the need to carry out further investigation on the sanitisers that fail the test to determine why they are not effective. This would include measuring the alcohol content in the hand sanitiser and determining the other ingredients of the product.

High touch surfaces are also potential places where *S. pyogenes* pathogens can be picked up. It would therefore be informative to swab surfaces in communities to determine the presence and microbial numbers of GAS on such surfaces in both socially advantaged and disadvantaged communities. It will also be informative to swab surfaces before and after cleaning to determine the effectiveness of detergents or wipes on the destruction of the pathogens. Swabs can also be collected from the hands of the people at most risk to determine numbers of GAS microorganisms on human hands before and after the use of different brands of hand sanitisers to further assess their effectiveness.

Since the effectiveness of a disease control intervention measure is gauged by reduction of morbidity and mortality cases (Mathur 2011, p. 611; Sickbert-Bennett et al. 2016, pp. 1629-30; Aiello et al. 2008, pp. 1378-79; Pittet 2005, p. 185), future work involving comparison of morbidity due to GAS before and after implementation of hand hygiene using hand sanitisers or a combination of both hand hygiene techniques in populations which are more susceptible to GAS infections also needs to be urgently undertaken especially as these infections are increasing.

REFERENCES

Abd El-Ghany, SM, Abdelmaksoud, AA, Saber, SM & Abd El Hamid, DH 2015, 'Group A betahemolytic streptococcal pharyngitis and carriage rate among Egyptian children: a case-control study', *Annals of Saudi Medicine*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 377-382.

Adebanjo, T, Mosites, E, Van Beneden, CA, Onukwube, J, Blum, M, Harper, M, Rudolph, K, Frick, A., Castrodale, L, McLaughlin, J & Bruce, MG 2018, 'Risk factors for group A streptococcus colonization during an outbreak among people experiencing homelessness in Anchorage, Alaska, 2017', *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 67, no. 11, pp. 1784-1787.

Adeoye-Isijola, MO, Iyashere, TC, Adedayo, O, Afolayan, AJ & Coopoosamy, RM 2018, Chadha, A, Jamal, W, Aziz, AR & Rotimi, VO 2018, 'Overwhelming *Streptococcus pyogenes* sepsis in an elderly patient with septic arthritis', *Journal of Infection and Public Health*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 434-435.

Ahmed, SS, Diebold, KE, Brandvold, JM, Ewaidah, SS, Black, S, Ogundimu, A, Li, Z, Stone, ND & Van Beneden, CA, 2018 July. The role of wound care in 2 group A streptococcal outbreaks in a Chicago skilled nursing facility, 2015–2016. In *Open Forum Infectious Diseases* (Vol. 5, No. 7, p. ofy145). Oxford University Press: US

Aiello, AE, Coulborn, RM, Perez, V & Larson, EL 2008, 'Effect of hand hygiene on infectious disease risk in the community setting: a meta-analysis', *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 98 no. 8, pp. 1372-1381.

Al-ajmi, JA, Hill, P, O'Boyle, C, Garcia, MLB, Malkawi, M, George, A, Saleh, F, Lukose, B, Al Ali, B & Elsheikh, M 2012, 'Group A streptococcus toxic shock syndrome: an outbreak report and review of the literature', *Journal of Infection and Public Health*, vol. 5, no.6, pp. 388-393.

Alexander, AJ, Myers, C, Beres, SB, Olsen, RJ, Musser, JM & Mangino, JE 2018, July, 'Postpartum group A streptococcus case series: reach out to infection prevention!', In *Open Forum Infectious Diseases* (Vol. 5, No. 7, p. ofy159). Oxford University Press: US

Alhousseini, A, Layne, ME, Gonik, B, Bryant, D, Patwardhan, S & Patwardhan, M 2017,' Successful Continuation of Pregnancy After Treatment of Group A Streptococci Sepsis', *Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, vol. 129, no. 5, pp. 907-910.

Allen, LB, Allen, M, Lesa, RF, Richardson, G & Eggett, DL 2011, 'Rheumatic fever in Samoa: education as prevention', *Pacific Health Dialog*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 107-18.

Anderson, BL 2014, 'Puerperal group A streptococcal infection: beyond Semmelweis', *Obstetrics* & *Gynaecology*, vol. 123, 4, pp. 874-882.

Anderson, P, King, J, Moss, M, Light, P, McKee, T, Farrell, E, Stewart, J & Lennon, D 2016, 'Nurseled school-based clinics for rheumatic fever prevention and skin infection management: evaluation of Mana Kidz programme in Counties Manukau', *New Zealand Medical Journal*, vol. 129, no. 1428, pp. 36-45.

Archer, JR, Wood, DM, Tizzard, Z, Jones, AL & Dargan, PI 2007, 'Alcohol hand rubs: hygiene and hazard', *British Medical Journal*, vol. 335, no. 7630, pp. 1154-1155.

Athey, TB, Teatero, S, Sieswerda, LE, Gubbay, JB, Marchand-Austin, A, Li, A, Wasserscheid, J, Dewar, K, McGeer, A, Williams, D & Fittipaldi, N 2016, 'High incidence of invasive group A streptococcus disease caused by strains of uncommon emm types in Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada', *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 83-92.

Aziz, RK & Kotb, M 2008, 'Rise and persistence of global M1T1 clone of *Streptococcus pyogenes*', *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, vol. 14, no. 10, p. 1511- 1517.

Babeluk, R, Jutz, S, Mertlitz, S, Matiasek, & Klaus, C 2014, 'Hand hygiene–evaluation of three disinfectant hand sanitizers in a community setting', *PloS One*, vol. 9, no. 11, pp. 1-7.

Baker, MG, Gurney, J, Oliver, J, Moreland, NJ, Williamson, DA, Pierse, N, Wilson, N, Merriman, TR, Percival, T, Murray, C & Jackson, C 2019, 'Risk factors for acute rheumatic fever: literature review and protocol for a case-control study in New Zealand', *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol.16, no. 22, pp. 1-39.

Banigo, A, Moinie, A, Bleach, N, Chand, M, Chalker, V & Lamagni, T 2018, 'Have reducing tonsillectomy rates in England led to increasing incidence of invasive group A streptococcus infections in children?', *Clinical Otolaryngology*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 912-919.

Bard, JD, Mongkolrattanothai, K, Kachroo, P, Beres, S & Olsen, RJ 2017, 'Case series description and genomic characterization of invasive group A streptococcal infections in paediatric patients', *The Paediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 618-620.

Barnett, TC, Bowen, AC & Carapetis, JR 2019' 'The fall and rise of group A streptococcus diseases', *Epidemiology & Infection*, vol. 147, no. e4, pp. 1-6.

Barth, DD, Naicker, P, Engel, K, Muhamed, B, Basera, W, Mayosi, BM, Dale, JB & Engel, ME 2019, 'Molecular epidemiology of non-invasive and invasive group A streptococcal infections in Cape Town. *Msphere*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 1-11. Beaudoin, AL, Torso, L, Richards, K, Said, M, Van Beneden, C, Longenberger, A, Ostroff, S, Wendt, J, Dooling, K, Wise, M & Blythe, D 2014, 'Invasive group A streptococcus infections associated with liposuction surgery at outpatient facilities not subject to state or federal regulation', *JAMA Internal Medicine*, vol. 174, no. 7, pp. 1136-1142.

Bennett, J, Moreland, NJ, Oliver, J, Crane, J, Williamson, DA, Sika-Paotonu, D, Harwood, M, Upton, A, Smith, S, Carapetis, J & Baker, MG 2019, 'Understanding group A streptococcal pharyngitis and skin infections as causes of rheumatic fever: Protocol for a prospective disease incidence study', *BMC Infectious Diseases*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 1-10.

Bessen, DE 2009, 'Population biology of the human restricted pathogen, *Streptococcus pyogenes*', *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 581-593.

Bi, S, Xu, M, Zhou, Y, Xing, X, Shen, A & Wang, B 2019, 'A multicomponent vaccine provides immunity against local and systemic infections by group A streptococcus across Serotypes', *mBio*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 1-12.

Bisno, AL, Brito, MO & Collins, CM 2003, 'Molecular basis of group A streptococcal virulence', *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 191-200.

Bjerke, NB 2004, 'The evolution: handwashing to hand hygiene guidance', *Critical Care Nursing Quarterly*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 295-307.

Block, SS ed., 2001, *Disinfection, Sterilization, and Preservation*, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, USA.

Boie, S, Krog, J, Tørring, S & Bor, IP 2015, 'Life-threatening necrotizing myometritis, due to group A streptococcus–still a life-threatening condition', *Clinical Case Reports*, vol. 3, no. 5, pp. 1-3.

Bono-Neri, F 2017, 'Acute rheumatic fever: global persistence of a preventable disease', *Journal of Paediatric Health Care*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 275-284.

Boyd, R, Patel, M, Currie, BJ, Holt, DC, Harris, T & Krause, V 2016, 'High burden of invasive group A streptococcal disease in the Northern Territory of Australia', *Epidemiology & Infection*, vol. 144, no. 5, pp. 1018-1027.

Brennan, MR & LeFevre, F 2019, 'Necrotizing fasciitis: Infection identification and management', *Nursing 2019 Critical Care*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 6-11.

Brennan-Krohn, T, Ozonoff, A & Sandora, TJ 2018, 'Adherence to guidelines for testing and treatment of children with pharyngitis: a retrospective study', *BMC Paediatrics*, vol. 18, no.1, pp. 1-7.

Bridges, MA 2015, 'A Case Study of Surviving Puerperal Group A Sepsis', *Journal of Obstetric, Gynaecologic, & Neonatal Nursing*, vol. 44, no. s1, pp. S82-S83.

British Standards 2019, Chemical disinfectants and antiseptics – quantitative suspension test for the evaluation of bactericidal activity of chemical disinfectants and antiseptics used in food, industrial, domestic and institutional areas – Test methods and requirements (phase 2, step 1), BS EN 1276: 2019, British standards institution, United Kingdom.

Bundle, N, Bubba, L, Coelho, J, Kwiatkowska, R, Cloke, R, King, S, Rajan-Iyer, J, Courtney-Pillinger, M, Beck, CR, Hope, V & Lamagni, T 2017, 'Ongoing outbreak of invasive and non-invasive disease due to group A streptococcus (GAS) type emm66 among homeless and people who inject drugs in England and Wales, January to December 2016', *Eurosurveillance*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 1-6.

Bura, M, Michalak, Chojnicki, M, Padzik, M & Mozer-Lisewska I 2017, 'Moderate and severe pharyngitis in young adult inhabitants of Poznan, western Poland', *Family Medicine & Primary Care Review*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp.12-17.

Cannon, JW, Abouzeid, M, de Klerk, N, Dibben, C, Carapetis, JR & Katzenellenbogen, JM 2019, 'Environmental and social determinants of acute rheumatic fever: a longitudinal cohort study, *Epidemiology & Infection*, vol.147, no. e79, pp. 1-5.

Carapetis, JR, Steer, AC, Mulholland, EK & Weber, M 2005, 'The global burden of group A streptococcal diseases', *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, vol. 5, no. 11, pp. 685- 694.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2009, Respiratory hygiene/cough etiquette in healthcare settings. USA, <https://www.cdc.gov/flu/professionals/infectioncontrol/resphygiene.htm>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019, Group A streptococcal disease, United States, viewed on 12th May, 2020, <https://www.cdc.gov/groupastrep/surveillance.html>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020a, United States of America, Group A Streptococcal (GAS) Disease, viewed on 12th May, 2020, <https://www.cdc.gov/groupastrep/diseases-hcp/index.html>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020b, United States of America, Show Me the Science – When & How to Use Hand Sanitizer in Community Settings, viewed on 20th August 2020, https://www.cdc.gov/handwashing/show-me-the-science-hand-sanitizer.html

Chalker, VJ, Smith, A, Al-Shahib, A, Botchway, S, Macdonald, E, Daniel, R, Phillips, S, Platt, S, Doumith, M, Tewolde, R & Coelho J 2016, 'Integration of genomic and other epidemiologic data to investigate and control a cross-institutional outbreak of *Streptococcus pyogenes*', *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 1-10.

Checchi, F, 2009, 'Principles of infectious disease transmission: short course on infectious diseases in humanitarian emergencies, World Health Organization, London, United Kingdom.

Chen, M, Wang, W, Tu, L, Zheng, Y, Pan, H, Wang, G, Chen, Y, Zhang, X, Zhu, L, Chen, J & Chen, M, 2017, 'An emm5 Group A Streptococcal outbreak among workers in a factory manufacturing telephone accessories', *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 8, no. 1156, p. 1-10.

Chen, KY, Cheung, M, Burgner, DP & Curtis, N 2016, 'Toxic shock syndrome in Australian children', *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, vol. 101, no. 8, pp. 736-740.

Cho, EE & Fernando, D 2013, 'Fatal streptococcal toxic shock syndrome from an intrauterine device', *The Journal of Emergency Medicine*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 777-780.

Chochua, S, Metcalf, BJ, Li, Z, Rivers, J, Mathis, S, Jackson, D, Gertz, RE, Srinivasan, V, Lynfield, R, Van Beneden, C & McGee, L 2017, 'Population and whole genome sequence-based characterization of invasive group A streptococci recovered in the United States during 2015', *MBio*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 1-18.

Cohen, R, Cohen, S, Afraimov, M, Finn, T., Babushkin, F, Geller, K, Paikin, S, Yoffe, I, Valinsky, L, Ron, M& Rokney, A 2019, 'Screening asymptomatic households for *Streptococcus pyogenes* pharyngeal carriage as a part of in-hospital investigation of puerperal sepsis', *American Journal of Infection Control*, vol. 47, no. 12, pp.1493-1499.

Cornick, JE, Kiran, AM, Vivancos, R, Van Aartsen, J, Clarke, J, Bevan, E, Alsahag, M, Alaearts, M, Moreno, LB, Jenkinson, HF & Nobbs, AH 2017, 'Epidemiological and molecular characterization of an invasive group A streptococcus emm32.2 outbreak', *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 1837-1846.

Cummins, A, Millership, S, Lamagni, T & Foster, K 2012, 'Control measures for invasive group A streptococci (iGAS) outbreaks in care homes', *Journal of Infection*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 156-161.

Cunningham, MW 2000, 'Pathogenesis of group A streptococcal infections', *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 470-511.

Dauby, N, Deyi, VYM, Delforge, V, Martiny, D, Mekkaoui, L, Hallin, M, Mahieu, R, Bossuyt, N, Botteaux, A & Smeesters, PR 2019, '*Streptococcus pyogenes* infections with limited emm-type diversity in the homeless population of Brussels, 2016–2018', *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 81, pp. 52-56.

de Almeida Torres, RSL, Fedalto, LE, de Almeida Torres, RF, Steer, AC & Smeesters, PR 2013, 'Group A streptococcus meningitis in children', *The Paediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 110-114. Demoré, B, Tebano, G, Gravoulet, J, Wilcke, C, Ruspini, E, Birgé, J, Boivin, JM, Hénard, S, Dieterling, A, Munerol, L & Husson, J 2018, 'Rapid antigen test use for the management of group A streptococcal pharyngitis in community pharmacies', *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases*, vol. 37, no. 9, pp. 1637-1645.

Department of Health, New York 2020, Streptococcal Infections (invasive group A strep, GAS), viewed on 4th September 2020,

<https://www.health.ny.gov/diseases/communicable/streptococcal/group_a/fact_sheet.htm>

Deutscher, M, Lewis, M, Zell, ER, Taylor Jr, TH, Van Beneden, C & Schrag, S 2011a, 'Incidence and severity of invasive *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, group A streptococcus, and group BS streptococcus infections among pregnant and postpartum women', *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 114-123.

Deutscher, M, Schillie, S, Gould, C, Baumbach, J, Mueller, M, Avery, C & Van Beneden, CA 2011b, 'Investigation of a group A streptococcal outbreak among residents of a long-term acute care hospital', *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 52, no. 8, pp. 988-994.

Dickinson, H, Reacher, M, Nazareth, B, Eagle, H, Fowler, D, Underwood, A, Chand, M, Chalker, V, Coelho, J, Daniel, R & Kapatai, G 2019, 'Whole-genome sequencing in the investigation of recurrent invasive group A streptococcus outbreaks in a maternity unit', *Journal of Hospital Infection*, vol. 101, no. 3, pp. 320-326.

Di Muzio, I, d'Angelo, DM, Di Battista, C, Lapergola, G, Zenobi, I, Marzetti, V, Breda, L & Altobelli, E 2020, 'Paediatrician's approach to diagnosis and management of group A streptococcal pharyngitis', *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases*, vol. 39, pp. 1103-1107.

Di Pierro, F 2019, 'Assessment of efficacy of BLIS-producing probiotic K12 for the prevention of group A streptococcus pharyngitis: a short communication." *Probiotics and Antimicrobial Proteins*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 332-334.

Di Pierro, F, Adami, T, Rapacioli, G, Giardini, N & Streitberger, C 2013, 'Clinical evaluation of the oral probiotic streptococcus salivarius K12 in the prevention of recurrent pharyngitis and/or tonsillitis caused by *Streptococcus pyogenes* in adults', *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 339-343.

Dohoo, C, Stuart, R, Finkelstein, M, Bradley, K & Gournis, E 2019, 'Risk factors associated with group A streptococcus acquisition in a large, urban homeless shelter outbreak', *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, vol. 111, pp.117-125.

Dooling, KL, Crist, MB, Nguyen, DB, Bass, J, Lorentzson, L, Toews, KA, Pondo, T, Stone, ND, Beall, B &Van Beneden, C 2013, 'Investigation of a prolonged group A streptococcal outbreak among

residents of a skilled nursing facility, Georgia, 2009–2012', *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 57, no. 11, pp. 1562-1567.

Drayß, M, Claus, H, Hubert, K, Thiel, K, Berger, A, Sing, A, Linden, MVD, Vogel, U & Lâm, TT 2019, 'Asymptomatic carriage of *Neisseria meningitidis, Haemophilus influenzae*, *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, group A streptococcus and *Staphylococcus aureus* among adults aged 65 years and older', *PloS one*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 1-15.

Efstratiou, A & Lamagni, T 2017, Epidemiology of *Streptococcus pyogenes*. In *Streptococcus pyogenes: basic biology to clinical manifestations [Internet]*, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Centre, Oklahoma, USA.

Engelthaler, DM, Valentine, M, Bowers, J, Pistole, J, Driebe, EM, Terriquez, J, Nienstadt, L, Carroll, M, Schumacher, M, Ormsby, ME & Brady, S 2016, 'Hypervirulent emm59 clone in invasive group A streptococcus outbreak, southwestern United States', *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 734-737.

Fittipaldi, N, Tyrrell, GJ, Low, DE, Martin, I, Lin, D, Hari, KL & Musser, JM 2013, 'Integrated wholegenome sequencing and temporospatial analysis of a continuing group A streptococcus epidemic', *Emerging Microbes & Infections*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 1-8.

Follmann, D, Huang, CY & Gabriel, E 2016, 'Who really gets strep sore throat? Confounding and effect modification of a time-varying exposure on recurrent events', *Statistics in Medicine*, vol. 35, no. 24, pp. 4398-4412.

Fox, JW, Marcon, MJ & Bonsu, BK 2006, 'Diagnosis of streptococcal pharyngitis by detection of Streptococcus pyogenes in posterior pharyngeal versus oral cavity specimens', *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, vol. 44, no. 7, pp. 2593-2594.

Francis, JR, Gargan, C, Remenyi, B, Ralph, AP, Draper, A, Holt, D, Krause, V & Hardie, K 2019, 'A cluster of acute rheumatic fever cases among Aboriginal Australians in a remote community with high baseline incidence', *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, vol. 43, no.3, pp. 288-293.

Garcia, LS ed. 2010, *Clinical Microbiology Procedures Handbook* (Vol. 2), American Society for Microbiology Press, Washington, USA.

Gendron, N, Joubrel, C, Nedellec, S, Campagna, J, Agostini, A, Doucet-Populaire, F, Casetta, A, Raymond, J, Poyart, C & Kernéis, S 2014, 'Group A streptococcus endometritis following medical abortion', *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, vol. 52, no. 7, pp. 2733-2735.
Gera, K & McIver, KS 2013, 'Laboratory growth and maintenance of *Streptococcus pyogenes* (the Group A streptococcus, GAS)', *Current Protocols in Microbiology*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 1-14.

Giraldez-Garcia, C, Rubio, B, Gallegos-Braun, JF, Imaz, I, Gonzalez-Enriquez, J & Sarria-Santamera, A 2011, 'Diagnosis and management of acute pharyngitis in a paediatric population: a cost–effectiveness analysis', *European Journal of Paediatrics*', vol. 170, no. 8, pp. 1059-1067.

Gold, NA & Avva, U 2018, 'Alcohol Sanitizer', In *Stat Pearls [Internet]*. St. Petersburg, Florida, USA, viewed on 23rd September 2020, < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK513254/>

Golin, AP, Choi, D & Ghahary, A 2020, 'Hand sanitizers: A review of ingredients, mechanisms of action, modes of delivery, and efficacy against coronaviruses', *American Journal of Infection Control*, vol. 48, no. 2020, pp. 1062-1067.

Gray, LA, D'Antoine, HA, Tong, SY, McKinnon, M, Bessarab, D, Brown, N, Reményi, B, Steer, A, Syn, G, Blackwell, JM & Inouye, M 2017, 'Genome-wide analysis of genetic risk factors for rheumatic heart disease in Aboriginal Australians provides support for pathogenic molecular mimicry', *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 216, no. 11, pp. 1460-1470.

Greenaway, RE, Ormandy, K, Fellows, C & Hollowood, T 2018, 'Impact of hand sanitizer format (gel/foam/liquid) and dose amount on its sensory properties and acceptability for improving hand hygiene compliance', *Journal of Hospital Infection*, vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 195-201.

Gupta, VK, Sekhar, S, Dhanda, V, Toor, D, Kumar, R & Chakraborti, A 2016, 'Immune response against M protein-conserved region peptides from prevalent group A streptococcus in a North Indian population', *Journal of Microbiology, Immunology and Infection*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 352-358.

Hamilton, SM, Stevens, DL & Bryant, AE 2013, 'Pregnancy-related group a streptococcal infection: temporal relationships between bacterial acquisition, infection onset, clinical findings, and outcome', *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 57, no. 6, pp. 87-876.

Hammond-Collins, K, Strauss, B, Barnes, K, Demczuk, W, Domingo, MC, Lamontagne, MC, Lu, D, Martin, I & Tepper, M 2019,' Group A streptococcus outbreak in a Canadian armed force training facility', *Military Medicine*, vol. 184, no. 3-4, pp. e197-e204.

Hancock-Allen, JB, Janelle, SJ, Lujan, K & Bamberg, WM 2016, 'Outbreak of group A streptococcus infection in an outpatient wound clinic—Colorado, 2014', *American Journal of Infection Control*, vol. 44, no. 10, pp. 1133-1138.

Harris, P, Siew, DA, Proud, M, Buettner, P & Norton, R 2011, 'Bacteraemia caused by betahaemolytic streptococci in North Queensland: changing trends over a 14-year period', *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, vol. 17, no. 8, pp. 1216-1222. Hernandez, DR & Wolk, DM 2015, 'Does your "backup" method have your back? Controversies surrounding backup of rapid antigen detection methods for group A streptococcus', *Clinical Microbiology Newsletter*, vol. 37, no. 14, pp. 111-118.

Hikone, M, Kobayashi, KI, Washino, T, Ota, M, Sakamoto, N, Iwabuchi, S & Ohnishi, K 2015, 'Streptococcal toxic shock syndrome secondary to group A Streptococcus vaginitis', *Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy*, vol. 21, no. 12, pp. 873-876.

Hodgins, N, Damkat-Thomas, L, Shamsian, N, Yew, P, Lewis, H & Khan, K 2015, 'Analysis of the increasing prevalence of necrotising fasciitis referrals to a regional plastic surgery unit: a retrospective case series', *Journal of Plastic, Reconstructive & Aesthetic Surgery*, vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 304-311.

Holah, JT & Hall, KE 2006, 'The effect of an antibacterial washing-up liquid in reducing dishwater aerobic plate counts', *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 532-537.

Hupp, JA, Kallstrom, G & Myers, J.P 2018, '*Streptococcus pyogenes* bacteraemia in adults in the 21st century: review of 68 episodes over 10-year period in a large community teaching hospital.', *Infectious Diseases in Clinical Practice*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 31-34.

Ibrahim, LA, Sellick, JA, Watson, EL, McCabe, LM, Schoenhals, KA, Martinello, RA & Lesse, AJ 2016, 'An outbreak of severe group A streptococcus infections associated with podiatric application of a biologic dermal substitute', *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 306-312.

Ikebe, T, Tominaga, K, Shima, T, Okuno, R, Kubota, H, Ogata, K, Chiba, K, Katsukawa, C, Ohya, H, Tada, Y & Okabe, N 2015, 'Increased prevalence of group A streptococcus isolates in streptococcal toxic shock syndrome cases in Japan from 2010 to 2012', *Epidemiology & Infection*, vol. 143, no. 4, pp. 864-872.

Inkster, T, Wright, P, Kane, H, Paterson, E, Dodd, S & Slorach, J 2012, 'Successive outbreaks of group A streptococcus (GAS) in care of the elderly settings; lessons learned', *Journal of Infection Prevention*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 38-43.

International Commission on Microbiological Specifications for Foods 1996, *Microorganisms in foods* 5: Characteristics of microbial pathogens (Vol. 5), Springer Science & Business Media, London, United Kingdom.

Iwata, Y & Iwase, S 2017, 'Group A streptococcal peritonitis and toxic shock syndrome in a postmenopausal woman', *Internal Medicine*, doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.8552-16.

Jain, VM, Karibasappa, GN, Dodamani, AS, Prashanth, VK & Mali, GV 2016, 'Comparative assessment of antimicrobial efficacy of different hand sanitizers: An in vitro study. *Dental Research Journal*, vol. 13, no. 5, p.424.

Jing, JLJ, Pei Yi, T, Bose, RJ, McCarthy, JR, Tharmalingam, N & Madheswaran, T 2020, 'Hand Sanitizers: A review on formulation aspects, adverse effects, and regulations', *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 17, no. 9, pp.1-17.

Jumaa, PA 2005, 'Hand hygiene: simple and complex', *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 3-14.

Karaky, NM, Araj, GF & Tokajian, ST 2014, 'Molecular characterization of *Streptococcus pyogenes* group A isolates from a tertiary hospital in Lebanon', *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, vol. 63, no. 9, pp. 1197-1204.

Katz, JD 2004, 'Hand washing and hand disinfection: more than your mother taught you', *Anaesthesiology Clinics of North America*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 457-471.

Katzenell, U, Shemer, J & Bar-Dayan, Y 2001, 'Streptococcal contamination of food: an unusual cause of epidemic pharyngitis', *Epidemiology & Infection*, vol. 127, no. 2, pp. 179-184.

Kawaguchi, K, Mori, N, Ejima, T, Yamada, Y & Takahashi, T 2019, 'Streptococcal toxic shock syndrome following group A streptococcal vulvovaginitis in a breastfeeding woman', *Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy*, vol. 25, no. 12, pp.1037-1039.

Kemble, SK, Westbrook, A, Lynfield, R, Bogard, A, Koktavy, N, Gall, K, Lappi, V, DeVries, AS, Kaplan, E & Smith, KE 2013, 'Foodborne outbreak of group A streptococcus pharyngitis associated with a high school dance team banquet—Minnesota, 2012', *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 648-654.

Kimman, TG, Smit, E & Klein, MR 2008, 'Evidence-based biosafety: a review of the principles and effectiveness of microbiological containment measures', *Clinical microbiology reviews*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 403-425.

Knoderer, CA, Abi-Mansour, TV, Zahn, SO, Cornelius, A, Richardson, K, Fletcher, MV & Nichols, KR 2019, 'Assessment of Pharyngitis Management at a University Student Health Services Clinic. *Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, doi: 10.1177/0897190019889433

Kobayashi, M, Lyman, MM, Francois Watkins, LK, Toews, KA, Bullard, L, Radcliffe, RA, Beall, B, Langley, G, Beneden, CV & Stone, ND 2016, 'A cluster of group A streptococcal infections in a skilled nursing facility—the potential role of healthcare worker presenteeism', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, vol. 64, no. 12, pp. e279-e284.

Kramer, A, Schwebke, I & Kampf, G 2006, 'How long do nosocomial pathogens persist on inanimate surfaces? A systematic review', *BMC Infectious Diseases*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. 1-8.

Krishna, V, Sankaranarayan, S, Sivaraman, RP & Prabaharan, K 2014, 'Streptococcal toxic shock syndrome', *The Indian Journal of paediatrics*, vol. 81, no. 9, pp. 946-948.

Krughoff, K, Swanton, A, Tundo, G & Gross, M 2020, 'Necrotizing group A strep following use of penile constriction ring. *Urology*, vol. 141, pp. e45-e46.

Kumar, R, Sharma, YP, Thakur, JS, Patro, BK, Bhatia, A, Singh, IP, Rana, SK, Chakraborti, A, Dhanda, V, Sapru, S & Sharma, M 2014, 'Streptococcal pharyngitis, rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease: eight-year prospective surveillance in Rupnagar district of Punjab, India. *National Medical Journal India*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 70-75.

Kwiatkowska, RM, Manley, P, Sims, B, Lamagni, T, Ready, D, Coelho, J, Alsaffar, L, Beck, CR, Neely, F a& Outbreak Control Team, 2018, 'Outbreak of group A streptococcus emm94. 0 affecting people who inject drugs in southwest England, April 2017', *American Journal of Infection Control*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 238-240.

Laatiris, A, Amine, B, Yacoub, YI & Hajjaj-Hassouni, N 2012, 'Septic polyarthritis caused by group A streptococcus in an immunocompetent adult: rare case', *Rheumatology international*, vol. 32, no. 9, pp. 2697-2700.

Lamden, KH, 2011, 'An outbreak of scarlet fever in a primary school', Archives of Disease in *Childhood*, vol. 96, no. 4, pp. 394-397.

Langley, G, Hao, Y, Pondo, T, Miller, L, Petit, S, Thomas, A, Lindegren, ML, Farley, MM, Dumyati, G, Como-Sabetti, K & Harrison, LH 2016, 'The impact of obesity and diabetes on the risk of disease and death due to invasive group A streptococcus infections in adults', *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 62, no. 7, pp. 845-852.

Lanitis, S, Khan, MAA, Sgourakis, G, Kontovounisios, C, Papaconstandinou, T & Karaliotas, C 2012, 'Severe mono bacterial necrotizing soft tissue infection by group A streptococcus: a surgical emergency. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine*, vol2, no. 3, pp. 250-252.

Larson, EL, Cimiotti, J, Haas, J, Parides, M, Nesin, M, Della-Latta, P & Saiman, L 2005, 'Effect of antiseptic handwashing vs alcohol sanitizer on health care–associated infections in neonatal intensive care units', *Archives of paediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 159, no. 4, pp.377-383.

Lee, CF, Cowling, BJ & Lau, EH 2017, 'Epidemiology of re-emerging scarlet fever, Hong Kong, 2005–2015', *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, vol. 23, no. 10, pp. 1707-1709.

Lev-Sagie, A, Hochner-Celnikier, D, Stroumsa, D, Khalaileh, A, Daum, H & Moses, AE 2017, 'Group A streptococcus: is there a genital carrier state in women following infection?', *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 91-93.

Lin, JN, Chang, LL, Lai, CH, Lin, HH & Chen, YH 2011, 'Clinical and molecular characteristics of invasive and non-invasive skin and soft tissue infections caused by group A streptococcus', *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, vol. 49, no. 10, pp. 3632-3637.

Lin, JN, Chang, LL, Lai, CH, Lin, HH & Chen, YH 2013, 'Group A streptococcal necrotizing fasciitis in the emergency department', *The Journal of Emergency Medicine*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 781-788.

Linder, KA, Alkhouli, L, Ramesh, M, Alangaden, GA, Kauffman, CA & Miceli, MH 2017, 'Effect of underlying immune compromise on the manifestations and outcomes of group A streptococcal bacteraemia', *Journal of Infection*, vol. 74, no. 5, pp. 450-455.

Liu, M, Lu, L, Sun, R, Zheng, Y & Zhang, P 2015, 'Rheumatic heart disease: causes, symptoms, and treatments', *Cell Biochemistry and Biophysics*, vol. 72, no. 3, pp. 861-863.

Liu, P, Yuen, Y, Hsiao, HM, Jaykus, LA & Moe, C 2010, 'Effectiveness of liquid soap and hand sanitizer against Norwalk virus on contaminated hands', *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 76, no. 2, pp. 394-399.

Liu, Y, Chan, TC, Yap, LW, Luo, Y, Xu, W, Qin, S, Zhao, N, Yu, Z, Geng, X & Liu, SL 2018, 'Resurgence of scarlet fever in China: a 13-year population-based surveillance study', *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, vol. 18, no. 8, pp. 903-912.

Liu, YM, Zhao, JZ, Li, BB Yang, JY Dong, XG Zhang, JJ & Cao, B 2014, 'A report on the first outbreak of a single clone group A Streptococcus (emm-type 89) tonsillopharyngitis in China', *Journal of Microbiology, Immunology and Infection*, vol. 47, no. 6, pp. –542-545.

Log and Percent Reductions in Microbiology and Antimicrobial Testing, *Microchem Laboratory*, December 16, 2015. Viewed on 12th September 2020, <https://microchemlab.com/information/log-and-percent-reductions-microbiology-and-antimicrobial-testing>

Lu, SL, Tsai, CY, Luo, YH, Kuo, CF, Lin, WC, Chang, YT, Wu, JJ, Chuang, WJ, Liu, CC, Chao, L & Chao, J 2013, 'Kallistatin modulates immune cells and confers anti-inflammatory response to protect mice from group A streptococcal infection', *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, vol. 57, no. 11, pp. 5366-5372.

Lynskey, NN, Lawrenson, RA & Sriskandan, S 2011, 'New understandings *in Streptococcus pyogenes*', *Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 196-202.

Mahida, N, Beal, A, Trigg, D, Vaughan, N & Boswell, T 2014, 'Outbreak of invasive group A streptococcus infection: contaminated patient curtains and cross-infection on an ear, nose and throat ward', *Journal of Hospital Infection*, vol. 87, no. 3, pp. 141-144.

Mahida, N, Prescott, K, Yates, C, Spencer, F, Weston, V & Boswell, T 2018, 'Outbreak of invasive group A streptococcus: investigations using agar settle plates detect perineal shedding from a healthcare worker', *Journal of Hospital Infection*, vol. 100, no. 4, pp. e209-e215.

Makthal, N, Nguyen, K, Do, H, Gavagan, M, Chandrangsu, P, Helmann, JD, Olsen, RJ & Kumaraswami, M 2017, 'A critical role of zinc importer AdcABC in group A streptococcus-host interactions during infection and its implications for vaccine development', *EBio Medicine*, vol. 21, pp. 131-141.

Malota, M, Felbinger, TW, Ruppert, R & Nüssler, NC 2015, 'Group A streptococci: a rare and often misdiagnosed cause of spontaneous bacterial peritonitis in adults', *International Journal of Surgery Case Reports*, vol. 6, pp. 251-255.

Marshall, HS, Richmond, P, Nissen, M, Lambert, S, Booy, R, Reynolds, G, Sebastian, S, Pride, M, Jansen, KU, Anderson, AS & Scully, IL 2015, 'Group A streptococcal carriage and seroepidemiology in children up to 10 years of age in Australia', *The Paediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, vol. 34, no. 8, pp. 831-838

Marshall, MN 1996, 'Sampling for qualitative research', Family Practice, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 522-526.

Mathan, JJ, Erkart, J & Houlding, A 2017, 'Clinical management and patient persistence with antibiotic course in suspected group A streptococcal pharyngitis for primary prevention of rheumatic fever: the perspective from a New Zealand emergency department', *New Zealand Medical Journal*, vol. 130, no. 1457, pp. 58-68.

Mathur, P, 2011, 'Hand hygiene: back to the basics of infection control', *The Indian Journal of Medical Research*, vol. 134, no. 5, p.611-619.

Matthews, KR, Kniel, KE & Montville, TJ 2017, *Food microbiology: An introduction*, John Wiley & Sons, New Jersey, USA.

Maturin, L & Peeler, JT 2001, 'BAM: Aerobic plate count', *Bacteriological Analytical Manual US Food and Drug Administration*, New Hampshire Avenue Silver Spring, USA, pp. 1-10.

May, PJ, Bowen, AC & Carapetis, JR 2016, 'The inequitable burden of group A streptococcal diseases in indigenous Australians', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 205, no. 5, pp. 201-203.

McDaniel, CJ, Cardwell, DM, Moeller, RB & Gray, GC 2014, 'Humans and cattle: a review of bovine zoonoses', *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, vol.14, no.1, pp.– 1-19.

Mearkle, R, Saavedra-Campos, M, Lamagni, T, Usdin, M, Coelho, J, Chalker, V, Sriskandan, S, Cordery, R, Rawlings, C & Balasegaram, S 2017, 'Household transmission of invasive group A streptococcus infection in England: a population-based study, 2009, 2011 to 2013', *Eurosurveillance*, vol. 22, no. 19, pp. 1-10.

Mosites, E, Frick, A, Gounder, P, Castrodale, L, Li, Y, Rudolph, K, Hurlburt, D, Lecy, KD, Zulz, T, Adebanjo, T & Onukwube, J 2018, 'Outbreak of invasive infections from subtype emm26. 3 group A Streptococcus among homeless adults—Anchorage, Alaska, 2016–2017', *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 66, no. 7, pp. 1068-1074.

Nakauyaca, AV, Ralph, AP, Majoni, WS & Kangaharan, N 2019, 'Case Report: concurrent rheumatic fever and acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis in a high-burden Setting', *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, vol. 101, no. 5, pp. 1054-1057.

Nanduri, SA, Metcalf, BJ, Arwady, MA, Edens, C, Lavin, MA, Morgan, J, Clegg, W, Beron, A, Albertson, JP, Link-Gelles, R & Ogundimu, A 2019, 'Prolonged and large outbreak of invasive group A streptococcus disease within a nursing home: repeated intrafacility transmission of a single strain', *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 248.e1-248.e7.

Nelson, GE, Pondo, T, Toews, KA, Farley, MM, Lindegren, ML, Lynfield, R, Aragon, D, Zansky, SM, Watt, JP, Cieslak, PR & Angeles, K 2016, 'Epidemiology of invasive group A streptococcal infections in the United States, 2005–2012', *Reviews of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 478-486.

Ochwoto, M, Muita, L, Talaam, K, Wanjala, C, Ogeto, F, Wachira, F, Osman, S, Kimotho, J & Ndegwa, L 2017, 'Anti-bacterial efficacy of alcoholic hand rubs in the Kenyan market, 2015', *Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp.1-6.

Olajuyigbe, OO Okuzono, S, Ishimura, M, Kanno, S, Sonoda, M, Kaku, N, Motomura, Y, Nishio, H, Oba, U, Hanada, M, Fukushi, JI & Urata, M 2018, '*Streptococcus pyogenes*-purpura fulminans as an invasive form of group A streptococcal infection', *Annals of Clinical Microbiology and Antimicrobials*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 1-6.

Oliver, JR, Pierse, N, Stefanogiannis, N, Jackson, C & Baker, MG 2017, 'Acute rheumatic fever and exposure to poor housing conditions in New Zealand: a descriptive study', *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 358-364.

Oliver, J, Thielemans, E, McMinn, A, Baker, C, Britton, PN, Clark, JE, Marshall, HS, Blyth, CC, Francis, J, Buttery, J & Steer, AC 2019a, 'Invasive group A streptococcus disease in Australian children: 2016 to 2018–a descriptive cohort study', *BMC Public Health*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp.1-10.

Oliver, J, Wilmot, M, Strachan, J, St George, S, Lane, CR, Ballard, SA, Sait, M, Gibney, K, Howden, BP &Williamson, DA 2019b, 'Recent trends in invasive group A streptococcus disease in Victoria', *Commun Dis Intell*, *2018*, vol. 43, pp. 1-14.

Olp, RJ, Chamales, IA & Schmiedecke, SS 2020, 'A case study of puerperal group A streptococcal infection complicated by toxic shock syndrome', *American Journal of Perinatology Reports*, vol. 10, no. 01, pp. e1-e4.

Oppegaard, O, Mylvaganam, H & Kittang, BR 2015, 'Beta-haemolytic group A, C and G streptococcal infections in Western Norway: a 15-year retrospective survey', *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 171-178.

Osei-Asare, C, Oppong, EE, Apenteng, JA, Adi-Dako, O, Kumadoh, D, Akosua, AA & Ohemeng, KA 2020, 'Managing Vibrio cholerae with a local beverage: preparation of an affordable ethanol-based hand sanitizer', *Heliyon*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1-7.

Ostrowsky, B & Rosenthal, VD 2018, '*Streptococcus pyogenes* (group A streptococcal)', *International Society for Infectious Diseases*, viewed on 21st September 2020, <https://isid.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/07/ISID_InfectionGuide_Chapter42.pdf>

O'Toole, GA 2016, 'Classic spotlight: plate counting you can count on', *Journal of Bacteriology,* vol. 198, no. 23, p. 3127.

Oxoid Australia, 2020a, Dehydrated Culture media, Todd Hewitt broth, viewed on 23rd August 2020, ">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=EN>">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=EN>">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=EN>">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=EN>">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=EN>">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=EN>">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=EN>">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=EN>">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=EN>">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=EN>">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=EN>">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=EN>">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=EN>">http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail.asp?pr=CM0189&org=133&sec=2&c=AU&lang=CM01&sec=2&c=2&c=2&c=AU&lang=CM01&sec=2&c=2&c=2&c=2&c

Oxoid Australia, 2020b, Agars, agar bacteriological (agar no.1), viewed on 23rd August 2020, <http://www.oxoid.com/AU/blue/prod_detail/prod_detail.asp?pr=LP0011&cat=&sec=2&c=AU&lang =EN>

Palladino, KJ, Morrison, T, Chochua, S, Bowers, L & MacFarquhar, JK 2019, 'Group A streptococcus outbreak among residents and employees of two skilled nursing facilities: North Carolina, 2017', *American Journal of Infection Control*, vol. 47, no. 7, pp. 846-849.

Patterson, MJ 1996, '*Streptococcus*', In *Medical Microbiology. 4th edition*. University of Texas Medical Branch, Texas, USA.

Paulson, Q, Douglass, E, Moreno, A & Aydelotte, J 2016, 'Group A streptococcal toxic shock syndrome secondary to necrotizing pelvic inflammatory disease in a postmenopausal woman. *IDCases*, vol. 5, no. 2016, pp. 21-23.

Pearson, M, Fallowfield, JL, Davey, T, Thorpe, NM, Allsopp, AJ, Shaw, A, Wilson, DR, Sriskandan, S & Lamb, LE, 2017, 'Asymptomatic group A streptococcal throat carriage in Royal Marines recruits and young officers. *Journal of Infection*, vol.74, no. 6, pp. 585-589.

Pittet, D 2005, 'Clean hands reduce the burden of disease', *The Lancet*, vol. 66, no. 9481, pp.185-187.

Prazuck, T, Compte-Nguyen, G, Pelat, C, Sunder, S & Blanchon, T 2010, 'Reducing gastroenteritis occurrences and their consequences in elementary schools with alcohol-based hand sanitizers', *The Paediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, vol. 29, no. 11, pp. 994-998.

Qing-Zeng, C, Yun-Bo, S, Shi-Hai, L, Li-Min, L, Li-Juan, R, Ying-Juan, S & Pi-Chun, P 2013, 'Outbreak of infections caused by Group A streptococcus after modified radical mastectomy', *Surgical Infections*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp.385-388.

Quinn, RW 1989, 'Comprehensive review of morbidity and mortality trends for rheumatic fever, streptococcal disease, and scarlet fever: the decline of rheumatic fever', *Reviews of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 11, no.6, pp. 928-953.

Ralph, AP & Carapetis, JR 2012, *Group A streptococcal diseases and their global burden. In Host-Pathogen Interactions in Streptococcal Diseases*, Springer, New York, USA.

Ralph, AP, Holt, DC, Islam, S, Osowicki, J, Carroll, DE, Tong, SY & Bowen, AC 2019, April. Potential for molecular testing for group A Streptococcus to improve diagnosis and management in a high-risk population: a prospective study', In *Open Forum Infectious Diseases* (Vol. 6, No. 4, p. ofz097). Oxford University Press: US.

Rasi, A & Pourheydari, N 2009, 'Association between plaque-type psoriasis and perianal streptococcal cellulitis and review of the literature', *Archives of Iranian Medicine*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 591-594.

Reglinski, M & Sriskandan, S 2015, '*Streptococcus pyogenes*', In *Molecular Medical Microbiology* (pp. 675-716). Academic Press, Massachusetts, USA.

Reijtman, V, García, ME, Mastroianni, A, Isasmendi, A, Pinheiro, JL, Pérez, G & Hernandez, C 2020, 'Evaluation of a rapid diagnostic test for the detection of Streptococcus pyogenes in invasive infections', *Revista Argentina de Microbiología*, viewed on 12th August 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ram.2019.08.004>

Riad, M, Thottacherry, E, Crawley, C, Phillip-Abraham, N & Ibrahim, F 2020, 'Invasive group A streptococcal postpartum endometritis associated with multi-organ infarctions: an uncommon case presentation and literature review', *Postgraduate Medicine*, doi: 10.1080/00325481.2020.1760031

Rivera-Hernandez, T, Rhyme, MS, Cork, AJ, Jones, S, Segui-Perez, C, Brunner, L, Richter, J, Petrovsky, N, Lawrenz, M, Goldblatt, D & Collin, N 2020, 'Vaccine-Induced Th1-Type Response Protects against Invasive Group A Streptococcus Infection in the Absence of Opsonizing Antibodies', *mBio*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 1-11.

Rößler, S, Berner, R, Jacobs, E & Toepfner, N 2018, 'Prevalence and molecular diversity of invasive streptococcus dysgalactiae and *Streptococcus pyogenes* in a German tertiary care medical centre', *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases*, vol. 37, no. 7, pp. 1325-1332.

Roobthaisong, A, Aikawa, C, Nozawa, T, Maruyama, F & Nakagawa, I 2017, 'YvqE and CovRS of group A streptococcus play a pivotal role in viability and phenotypic adaptations to multiple environmental stresses', *PloS one*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1/22- 22/22.

Rottenstreich, A, Benenson, S, Levin, G, Kleinstern, G, Moses, AE & Amit, S 2019, 'Risk factors, clinical course and outcomes of pregnancy-related group A streptococcal infections: retrospective 13-year cohort study', *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 25Le1-25Le4.

Saavedra-Campos, M, Simone, B, Balasegaram, S, Wright, A, Usdin, M & Lamagni, T 2017, 'Estimating the risk of invasive group A streptococcus infection in care home residents in England, 2009–2010', *Epidemiology & Infection*, vol. 145, no. 13, pp. 2759-2765.

Sanders, ER 2012, 'Aseptic laboratory techniques: plating methods', *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, vol. 63, no. e3064, pp. 1-20.

Sanyahumbi, AS, Colquhoun, S, Wyber, R & Carapetis, JR 2016, 'Global disease burden of group A streptococcus', In *Streptococcus pyogenes: Basic Biology to Clinical Manifestations*, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma, USA.

Sarangi, J & Rowsell, R 1995, 'A nursing home outbreak of Group A streptococcal infection: case control study of environmental contamination', *Journal of Hospital Infection*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 162-164.

Savic, DJ & McShan, WM, 2012, 'Long-term survival of Streptococcus pyogenes in rich media is pHdependent', *Microbiology*, vol. 158, no. Pt 6, pp. 1428-1435.

Seale, AC, Davies, MR, Anampiu, K, Morpeth, SC, Nyongesa, S, Mwarumba, S, Smeesters, PR, Efstratiou, A, Karugutu, R, Mturi, N & Williams, TN 2016, 'Invasive group A streptococcus infection among children, rural Kenya', *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 224-232.

Seth, A, Kong, IG, Lee, SH, Yang, JY, Lee, YS, Kim, Y, Wibowo, N, Middelberg, AP, Lua, LH & Kweon, MN 2016, 'Modular virus-like particles for sublingual vaccination against group A streptococcus', *Vaccine*, vol. 34, no. 51, pp. 6472-6480.

Shakoor, S, Khan, E, Mir, F, Malik, FR & Jamil, B 2017, 'Secular trends of *Streptococcus pyogenes* sepsis in Pakistan and analysis of clinical features in a hospitalized cohort', *Tropical Biomedicine*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 648-656.

Sharma, H, Ong, MR, Ready, D, Coelho, J, Groves, N, Chalker, V& Warren, S 2019, 'Real-time whole genome sequencing to control a *Streptococcus pyogenes* outbreak at a national orthopaedic hospital', *Journal of Hospital Infection*, vol. 103, no. 1, pp. 21-26.

Shetty, A, Mills, C & Eggleton, K 2014, 'Primary care management of group A streptococcal pharyngitis in Northland', *Journal of Primary Health Care*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 189-194.

Shinar, S, Fouks, Y, Amit, S, Pauzner, D, Tarabeia, J, Schechner, V & Many, A 2016, 'Clinical characteristics of and preventative strategies for peripartum group A streptococcal infections', *Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, vol. 127, no. 2, pp. 227-232.

Sickbert-Bennett, EE, DiBiase, LM, Willis, TMS, Wolak, ES, Weber, DJ & Rutala, WA, 2016, 'Reduction of healthcare-associated infections by exceeding high compliance with hand hygiene practices', *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, vol. 22, no. 9, pp. 1628-1630.

Siemens, N, Chakrakodi, B, Shambat, SM, Morgan, M, Bergsten, H, Hyldegaard, O, Skrede, S, Arnell, P, Madsen, MB, Johansson, L & Juarez, J 2016, 'Biofilm in group A streptococcal necrotizing soft tissue infections', *JCI insight*, vol. 1, no. 10, pp. 1-10.

Simonne, A 2005, 'Hand hygiene and hand sanitizers', *Acedido em Junho*, vol. 18, no. 8788, pp 1-4.

Sivagnanam, S, Zhou, F, Lee, AS & O'sullivan, MV 2015, 'Epidemiology of invasive group A streptococcus infection in Sydney, Australia', *Pathology*, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 365-371.

Sosa, MEB 2016, 'Group A streptococcal infection in pregnancy and the puerperium', *The Journal of Perinatal & Neonatal Nursing*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 124-130.

Smit, MA, Nyquist, AC & Todd, JK, 2013, 'Infectious shock and toxic shock syndrome diagnoses in hospitals, Colorado, USA', *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, vol. 19, no. 11, p.1-4.

Smith, MT, Zurynski, Y, Lester-Smith, D, Elliott, E & Carapetis, J 2012, 'Rheumatic fever: identification, management and secondary prevention', *Australian Family Physician*, vol. 41, no. 1/2, pp.31-35.

Spellerberg, B & Brandt, C, 2016, 'Laboratory diagnosis of *Streptococcus pyogenes* (group A streptococcci). In *Streptococcus pyogenes: Basic Biology to Clinical Manifestations [Internet]*. University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Centre, Oklahoma, USA.

Steer, AC, Carapetis, JR, Dale, JB, Fraser, JD, Good, MF, Guilherme, L, Moreland, NJ, Mulholland, EK, Schodel, F & Smeesters, PR 2016, 'Status of research and development of vaccines for *Streptococcus pyogenes*', *Vaccine*, vol. 34, no. 26, pp. 2953-2958.

Steer, AC, Law, I, Matatolu, L, Beall, BW & Carapetis, JR 2009, 'Global emm type distribution of group A streptococci: systematic review and implications for vaccine development', *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 611-616.

Stevens, DL 1992 'Invasive group A streptococcus infections', *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp.2-13.

Stevens, DL & Bryant, AE, 2016, 'Severe group A streptococcal infections. In *Streptococcus pyogenes: Basic Biology to Clinical Manifestations [Internet]*, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Centre, vol. 24, no. 7, pp. 562-572.

Suchomel, M, Kundi, M, Pittet, D, Weinlich, M & Rotter, ML 2012, 'Testing of the World Health Organization recommended formulations in their application as hygienic hand rubs and proposals for increased efficacy', *American Journal of Infection Control*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 328-331.

Tagini, F, Aubert, B, Troillet, N, Pillonel, T, Praz, G, Crisinel, PA, Prod'hom, G, Asner, S & Greub, G 2017, 'Importance of whole genome sequencing for the assessment of outbreaks in diagnostic laboratories: analysis of a case series of invasive *Streptococcus pyogenes* infections', *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 1173-1180.

Tartof, SY, Reis, JN, Andrade, AN, Ramos, RT, Reis, MG & Riley, LW 2010, 'Factors associated with group A streptococcus emm type diversification in a large urban setting in Brazil: a cross-sectional study', *BMC Infectious Diseases*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1-8.

Teatero, S, McGeer, A, Tyrrell, GJ, Hoang, L, Smadi, H, Domingo, MC, Levett, PN, Finkelstein, M, Dewar, K, Plevneshi, A & Athey, TB 2018, May. Canada-wide epidemic of emm74 group A Streptococcus invasive disease. In *Open Forum Infectious Diseases* (Vol. 5, No. 5, p. ofy085). Oxford University Press: USA

The Common Access to Biological Resources and Information (CABRI) Consortium 2013, Laboratory procedures for microorganisms: preparation and storage of culture media, viewed on 27th August 2020, <http://www.cabri.org/guidelines/micro-organisms/M203Ap1.html>

Thielemans, E, Oliver, J, McMinn, A, Baker, C, Britton, PN, Clark, J, Marshall, H, Blyth, CC, Francis, J, Buttery, J & Smeesters, PR 2020., 'Clinical description and outcomes of Australian children with invasive group A streptococcal disease', *The Paediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 379-384.

Todd, EC, Michaels, BS, Holah, J, Smith, D, Greig, JD & Bartleson, CA, 2010, 'Outbreaks where food workers have been implicated in the spread of foodborne disease. Part 10. Alcohol-based antiseptics for hand disinfection and a comparison of their effectiveness with soaps', *Journal of Food Protection*, vol. 73, no.11, pp. 2128-2140.

Torres, RSLDA, Santos, TZD, Torres, RADA, Petrini, LMCDM, Burger, M, Steer, AC & Smeesters, PR, 2016, 'Management of contacts of patients with severe invasive group A streptococcal infection', *Journal of the Paediatric Infectious Diseases Society*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 47-52.

Turner, CE, Bedford, L, Brown, NM, Judge, K, Török, ME, Parkhill, J & Peacock, SJ 2017, 'Community outbreaks of group A streptococcus revealed by genome sequencing', *Scientific Reports*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1-9.

Turner, CE, Pyzio, M, Song, B, Lamagni, T, Meltzer, M, Chow, JY, Efstratiou, A, Curtis, S & Sriskandan, S 2016, 'Scarlet fever upsurge in England and molecular-genetic analysis in north-west London, 2014', *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 1075-1078.

Tyrrell, GJ, Fathima, S, Kakulphimp, J & Bell, C 2018, August. Increasing rates of invasive group A streptococcal disease in Alberta, Canada; 2003–2017', In *Open Forum Infectious Diseases* (Vol. 5, No. 8, p. ofy177). Oxford University Press: USA.

Vasant, BR, Jarvinen, KA, Fang, NX, Smith, HV & Jennison, AV, 2019, 'Mass prophylaxis in an outbreak of invasive group A streptococcal disease in a residential aged care facility', *Communicable Diseases Intelligence (2018)*, vol. 43, pp. 1-5.

Vekemans, J, Gouvea-Reis, F, Kim, JH, Excler, JL, Smeesters, PR, O'Brien, KL, Van Beneden, CA, Steer, AC, Carapetis, JR & Kaslow, DC 2019, 'The path to group A streptococcus vaccines: World Health Organization research and development technology roadmap and preferred product characteristics', *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 69, no. 5, pp. 877-883.

Verstraelen, H, Verhelst, R, Vaneechoutte, M & Temmerman, M 2011, 'Group A streptococcal vaginitis: an unrecognized cause of vaginal symptoms in adult women', *Archives of Gynaecology and Obstetrics*', vol. 284, no. 1, pp. 95-98.

Vijaya, D, Sathish, JV & Janakiram, K 2013, 'The prevalence of group A streptococci carriers among asymptomatic school children', *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 446-448.

Vincent, MT, Celestin, N & Hussain, AN, 2004, 'Pharyngitis', *American Family Physician*, vol. 69, no. 6, pp. 1465-1470.

Waddington, CS, Snelling, TL & Carapetis, JR 2014, 'Management of invasive group A streptococcal infections', *Journal of Infection*, vol. 69, pp. S63-S69.

Walker, MJ, Barnett, TC, McArthur, JD, Cole, JN, Gillen, CM, Henningham, A, Sriprakash, KS, Sanderson-Smith, ML & Nizet, V 2014, 'Disease manifestations and pathogenic mechanisms of group A streptococcus', *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 264-301.

Wang, Y, Louwagie, E, Larkin, D, Sankey, S, Boulware, DR & Bischof, JC 2019, 'Improved detection of group A streptococcus during thermal contrast amplification vs. visual reading of clinical rapid diagnostic tests', *Analytical Methods*, vol. 11, no. 15, pp. 2013-2017.

Watts, V, Balasegaram, S, Brown, CS, Mathew, S, Mearkle, R, Ready, D, Saliba, V & Lamagni, T 2019, 'Increased risk for invasive group A streptococcus disease for household contacts of scarlet fever cases, England, 2011–2016', *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 529-537.

Whitehead, BD, Smith, HV & Nourse, C 2011, 'Invasive group A streptococcal disease in children in Queensland', *Epidemiology & Infection*, vol. 139, no. 4, pp. 623-628.

Widmer, AF 2000, 'Replace hand washing with use of a waterless alcohol hand rub?', *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 136-143.

Williams, REO 1958, 'Laboratory diagnosis of streptococcal infections', *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 153-176.

Willmott, M, Nicholson, A, Busse, H, MacArthur, GJ, Brookes, S & Campbell, R 2016, 'Effectiveness of hand hygiene interventions in reducing illness absence among children in educational settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis', *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, vol. 101, no. 1, pp. 42-50.

Winter, G 2014, 'Curtains hide risks to health and hygiene', *Nursing Standard (Royal College of Nursing (Great Britain): 1987)*, vol. 28, no. 46, p. 27.

World Health Organization 2005, 'The current evidence for the burden of group A streptococcal diseases' Department of Child and Adolescent Health and Development World Health Organization, viewed on 20th April 2020,

<https://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/documents/fch_cah_05_07/en/>

World Health Organization 2006, *WHO guidelines on hand hygiene in health care (advanced draft): global safety challenge 2005-2006: Clean care is safer care* (No. WHO/EIP/SPO/QPS/05.2 Rev. 1), World Health Organization, viewed on 30th August 2020,

<https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/69323/WHO_EIP_SPO_QPS_05.2.REV.1_eng.p df>

World Health Organization 2009a, Hand hygiene: why, how & when? viewed on 15th August 2020, https://www.who.int/gpsc/5may/Hand_Hygiene_Why_How_and_When_Brochure.pdf>

World Health Organization 2009b, *WHO guidelines on hand hygiene in health care: first global patient safety challenge clean care is safer care*. World Health Organization, viewed on 13th September 2020, <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK143998/>

World Health Organization 2010, Guide to Local Production: WHO-recommended Hand rub Formulations, viewed on 13th September 2020, <https://www.who.int/gpsc/5may/Guide_to_Local_Production.pdf>

World Health Organization 2020, Clean Care is Safer Care: Evidence for Hand Hygiene Guidelines, viewed on 16th August 2020, https://www.who.int/gpsc/tools/faqs/evidence_hand_hygiene/en/

Worthing, KA, Werno, A, Pink, R, McIntyre, L, Carter, GP, Williamson, DA & Davies, MR 2020, 'Biphasic outbreak of invasive group A streptococcus disease in eldercare facility, New Zealand', *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 1-8.

Wu, S, Peng, X, Yang, Z, Ma, C, Zhang, D, Wang, Q & Yang, P 2016, 'Estimated burden of group a streptococcal pharyngitis among children in Beijing, China', *BMC infectious diseases*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 1-9.

Xie, X, Zhou, H, Huang, J, Huang, H, Feng, Z, Mei, K, Yu, B, Su, Z & Gu, J 2010, 'An animal model of chronic rheumatic valvulitis induced by formalin-killed streptococci. *Rheumatology International*, vol. 30, no. 12, pp. 1621-1625.

Yang, P, Peng, X, Zhang, D, Wu, S, Liu, Y, Cui, S, Lu, G, Duan, W, Shi, W, Liu, S & Li, J 2013, 'Characteristics of group A streptococcus strains circulating during scarlet fever epidemic, Beijing, China, 2011', *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 1-8.

Yip, HW, Wong, OF, Lee, HM & Lam, SK, 2016, 'Twelve-year experience with necrotising fasciitis in an intensive care unit of a local regional hospital', *Hong Kong Journal of Emergency Medicine*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 257-265.

Yokchoo, N, Patanarapeelert, N & Patanarapeelert, K 2019, 'The effect of group A streptococcal carrier on the epidemic model of acute rheumatic fever', *Theoretical Biology and Medical Modelling*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 1-9.

You, Y, Davies, MR, Protani, M, McIntyre, L, Walker, MJ & Zhang, J 2018, 'Scarlet fever epidemic in China caused by *Streptococcus pyogenes* serotype M12: epidemiologic and molecular analysis', *EBioMedicine*, vol. 28, pp. 128-135.

Zhang, Q, Liu, W, Ma, W, Shi, Y, Wu, Y, Li, Y, Liang, S, Zhu, Y & Zhou, M 2017, 'Spatiotemporal epidemiology of scarlet fever in Jiangsu Province, China, 2005–2015', *BMC Infectious Diseases*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 1-6.

APPENDICES

A1 Biosafety training certificate





Flinders University Institutional Biosafety Committee

Certificate of Completion

This is to certify that

Nelly Janira Avire

satisfied the

Biosafety Training requirements of Flinders University, South Australia

for working with genetically modified organisms, microbiologicals of risk group 2, and working in a physical containment facility

2020

NAZ

Professor Melissa Brown Chairperson Institutional Biosafety Committee Flinders University

A2 Biosafety committee approval for the project No. 2020-19



Flinders University Institutional Biosafety Committee

Research Development & Support Union Building GPO Box 2100 Adelaide SA 5001 Telephone +61 8 7221 8353 ibcadmin@flinders.edu.au

23rd June 2020

Dr Harriet Whiley College of Science and Engineering

Dear Dr Whiley,

Notice of Approval: 2020-19, 'Survival of *Streptococcus pyogenes* on surfaces', PC2 Microbiological

I am pleased to inform you that your application for a microbiological dealing, as above and attached, was approved by the Flinders University Institutional Biosafety Committee (IBC) on the 18th June 2020.

In addition to compliance with all conditions outlined in your approved application and risk assessment, the following specific conditions relating to your approval must be adhered to.

Approval is under the following conditions:

- The approval period ends on the 18th June 2025.
- The project must be undertaken in the PC2 facilities listed in the application. The IBC must be notified prior to any change in facilities used.

Your attention is drawn to the following requirements of *Australian/New Zealand Standard 2243.3* and University Policy:

- All biohazard waste must be disposed of as per the guidelines in Section 16 of the Flinders Biosafety Manual, and using appropriate disinfection or sterilisation techniques outlined in Appendix F of *AS/NZS 2243.3*.
- Any spill or unintentional release of risk group 2 microorganisms outside of a PC facility must be reported to the IBC Chairperson or IBC Executive Officer as soon as reasonably practicable. Contact details are available on the Flinders University biosafety website: https://staff.flinders.edu.au/research/integrity/biosafety#contacts
- All work health and safety incidents must be reported to the University via the FlinSafe portal: <u>https://flinsafeportal.flinders.edu.au/FlindersEcPortal/</u>
- It is necessary to apply to the IBC if any changes to the approved dealings are required. For amendments relating to facilities or personnel, please email <u>ibcadmin@flinders.edu.au</u>. For further information about making changes to approved projects, please refer to the website at <u>https://staff.flinders.edu.au/research/integrity/biosafety/applying</u>

ABN 65 542 596 200, CRICOS No. 00114A

inspiring achievement



If you need further information or assistance regarding this notice please contact the IBC Executive Officer (<u>ibcadmin@flinders.edu.au</u>; ph. 7221 8353).

Yours sincerely

MAB

Prof Melissa Brown Chairperson Institutional Biosafety Committee

cc Mae White